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The Lambeth Walk





1945–1962





My parents’ relationship was the most important thing in both their lives, and they remained passionately in love until my father’s unexpected and shocking death at the age of fifty-six. They married in Wandsworth on 31 July 1940, just eight weeks after they had first met at a music hall in Workington. My mother, Ethel Ada Kennard, was a dancer who was part of a three-woman act called the Kenleigh Sisters. My father, Robert Moffat Livingstone, was in the audience one night with two shipmates on shore leave from the merchant navy. Having had enough drink to boost their confidence, the sailors waved and winked before passing a message to the three women to join them for supper in the local fish-and-chip shop.


Ethel, shy and easily embarrassed, was appalled when Bob started singing to her the Bing Crosby hit ‘I Have Eyes (to See With But They See Only You)’. ‘I wanted the ground to open and swallow me up,’ she said later. But for all her embarrassment it was love at first sight. She told John Carvel, who wrote a book about me in the 1980s, Citizen Ken, ‘It was a lovely number. And he really meant it. We were meant to meet.’ They each left the fish-and-chip shop that night to phone their respective fiancés and tell them that they had found someone else.


As Ethel was on tour, and Bob at sea, it was possible for them to meet on only three occasions before they got married in the summer of 1940, both aged twenty-five. The years that followed were difficult. Bob was on duty for long periods of time. Following Hitler’s invasion of the Soviet Union in the summer of 1941, he worked as a ship’s master on the perilous Arctic Sea convoys of arms shipments to Murmansk in northern Russia. Prime Minister Winston Churchill and President Franklin Roosevelt had decided that the Soviet armies should be sustained at all costs in their titanic struggle against the Nazis. Dad’s affection for Russians dated from his visits to Murmansk. Their generosity to him when they had so little themselves left a deep impression.


The British navy’s resources were stretched thin and the human cost of the convoy system was brutal. Nazi submarines would lie in wait and many sailors’ lives were lost. Dad was incredibly lucky to survive the torpedoes that struck his ship as a U-boat worked its way along the line of ships, sinking each in turn. Had Dad been in the vanguard he would surely have died, but after the first ship sank sailors on the other vessels gathered by the life rafts to wait for the inevitable torpedo strike. After days adrift in the appallingly cold conditions of the Arctic Sea, Bob was rescued and invalided out of the service. He went to live with Ethel in the small flat her mother rented in Streatham. He had barely met his mother-in-law before the marriage. Dad had no idea what lay in store for him.


My grandmother, Zona Ann Williams, was born in 1888, a year before the creation of the London County Council (LCC), and grew up in South London around Balham and Tooting. As a boy I was mesmerised by her sanitised tales of life in nineteenth-century London. Nan was one of seven children (only five of whom survived) and raised under a regime of strict Victorian values. Life was not easy for her, but she experienced nothing like the crushing poverty that afflicted poorer London families just a couple of miles north in the slums of Kennington.


Nan turned her back on her family as a teenager when she came home late one night and was savagely beaten by her father. She packed her belongings and left to work in the pubs that serviced the theatrical trade she idolised. She fell pregnant by her future husband Charles Kennard, a painter and decorator raised by his grandparents in Eastbourne.


The shame of being pregnant and unmarried was such that to her dying day Zona never admitted her secret to anyone, including her children. Only after Nan’s death did my mother discover that she had changed the dates on her wedding certificate to hide her disgrace.


I was told my grandfather was blown to bits by a German shell in Flanders just two months before the birth of his second child, my uncle Ken, but the truth is more complicated. Zona insisted he was a wonderful man with a constant smile, but the fact that he did not marry her until two months after my mother was born suggests he was not as committed as she later convinced herself he was. Within two weeks of the outbreak of war he had enlisted in the 6th Battalion of the Dorsetshire Regiment, but his rebellious streak landed him on charges six times in three years. He was dispatched to France two years later on 3 July 1916, where he was wounded in the Battle of the Somme. He was jailed twice, once for twenty-one days for being absent without a pass, drunk and lying to an officer. A seven-day sentence followed, this time for being absent without leave for two and a half days and for ‘missing a military tattoo’.


Uncle Ken always insisted that my grandfather died because our soldiers were sent forward to certain death so that their bodies would fill the enemy trenches and allow British tanks to pass over their corpses. In 2005 Ancestor Incorporated suggested it was more likely that my grandfather, having committed yet another offence against the regulations, was sent to the front line by his commanding officer simply to avoid the delay and expense of a court martial. Whatever the truth, Private Charles Joseph Kennard of 142 Hartfield Road, Wimbledon, died at Arras on 16 May 1917, aged thirty-two.
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Zona never took up with another man. Turning inward, she devoted herself to raising her two children in a succession of rented rooms in South London. Having fallen out with her parents, Nan was far too proud to go to them for help so she lived on her war widow’s pension and the wages she earned from occasional shop work. Mum recalled trips to local markets just as they were closing and the food was sold at half price, saving enough money to buy a bottle of cheap port, which was Zona’s favourite tipple. Mum was left with rotten teeth, though Nan did pay for them all to be taken out and replaced with dentures as a twenty-first birthday present.


Nan was determined that Ethel was not going to ‘skivvy’ for a living so she planned for Mum to fulfil her own dreams of a career on the stage. By skimping and saving, Zona was able to enrol Mum in ballet lessons and she performed well in several competitions. In a less class-ridden time Mum might have joined a professional ballet company, but instead had to settle for a job as an acrobatic dancer touring provincial music halls with the famous names of the day: Donald Peers, Tommy Trinder, Two-Ton Tessie O’Shea and Cecil Lyle, the ‘Great Illusionist’, who daily sawed Mum in half. When Mum joined the company, Nan found her lodgings in Reading. It was the first time fourteen-year-old Ethel had been away from home so she cried herself to sleep in her one-room digs. The next day she met Jo and Nan, two other girls in the show. They became close friends and formed the Kenleigh Sisters, doing tap-dancing routines, ballet and the kind of back flips and balancing manoeuvres that are now part of modern gymnastics. The three of them shared digs throughout my mother’s fifteen years on the stage and they remained firm friends for life.


Uncle Ken did well in his local LCC school and would have stayed on had there been enough money. Instead he left at fourteen and went to work for Mr Campbell, a local tailor and leading figure in the Streatham Tory party who represented the constituency on the LCC. My uncle spent his life in both the rag trade and, apart from one brief interlude, the Tory party. In 1949 Winston Churchill’s son-in-law, Duncan Sandys, was parachuted into this safe parliamentary seat which had been nurtured by Campbell for years. My uncle was so angry at this that he resigned from the party and got Dad to write to the local paper complaining about the treatment of his employer. I remember Mum anxiously asking Dad, ‘Are you sure we won’t get into trouble for doing this?’ Uncle Ken was right to be outraged as Sandys completely neglected his constituency, appearing only once every five years when he was driven through Streatham in an open car waving to the voters on the Saturday before polling.


My uncle’s views were so right-wing that he joined Oswald Mosley’s fascist Blackshirts in the 1930s and when he died in December 1986 I discovered he was a member of both the Tory party and the far-right National Front at the same time. Becoming more intolerant with age, he went through the Radio Times and TV Times each week with a marker pen obliterating any programme listing that included black or Irish people, gays, lesbians or David Frost. For the last five years of his life, when I was leader of the Greater London Council (GLC), he so hated my politics that we had no contact. Uncle Ken’s social life revolved around the pub at lunchtimes and almost every evening. He spent so much on drink that he never saved enough to buy his own home. It was in the pub that he met each of his three wives, an unusual number for the time. He married first just before he left to fight in Burma in the Second World War. His girlfriend had lied that she was pregnant, so on his return the marriage was annulled. His second wife, Pat, was the love of his life but after marrying him she was diagnosed with TB and died a few years later. He outlived his third wife, Vi, by a few years. With no children of his own he doted on me, his only godson – until I joined the Labour party.
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Although Mum’s childhood was tough within the claustrophobic cocoon my grandmother wove around the family, Dad had been denied even this kind of support. His father was a shipping clerk working in the Argentine before Dad’s birth in 1915. According to our aunt Attie, my grandfather was ‘high up in the railways’. So that their second child, if it was a boy, might evade the national service that Argentinian law required of all males born in the country, my grandparents and their daughter Cathy came back to Dunoon in Scotland for the birth, returning immediately to Argentina, where they lived for the next seven years. In 1922 they returned to Dunoon permanently, though by then the family was disintegrating as Dad’s mother was very ill and Grandfather was having an affair. Only after Dad’s death did Aunt Cathy talk of his devotion to his mother and the anger he felt towards his father. He never once discussed his own family with me or my sister; it was as though his life had begun only when he met my mother.


Catherine, Dad’s mum, finally died aged forty-nine when he was sixteen. My grandfather, who was called Robert Moffat like his son, moved out of the family home and at the funeral shook Dad’s hand, said, ‘Good luck, son,’ and walked away. Dad never saw him again. We never discovered when or where he died. Aunt Cathy had just married her fiancé Leo McCloud and the newlyweds took Dad in to live with them.


Dad did well at Dunoon grammar school but had to leave early to work, cutting timber on a local estate. In 1932, as Cathy’s family started to grow, Dad joined the merchant navy at seventeen as a deck boy. While Mum travelled the length and breadth of Britain appearing at music halls, Dad travelled the world, working side by side with men of all races and religions in the harsh conditions of the merchant navy. He had none of the racism so common in those times.


Given their ghastly childhoods, it’s not surprising my parents threw themselves into a devoted lifetime commitment to each other. In their love they found all they had missed as youngsters, but when it came to raising my sister and me they were prisoners of their pasts.


My nan Zona so immersed herself in her children that she feared losing them to marriage. Boyfriends and girlfriends were disparaged and scared off. Once Nan so wound up my uncle that he smashed his fist through the glass door of the living room. The world outside was portrayed as a dangerous place and the family was the only thing of value. Estranged from her own family and constantly moving on after rows with landlords, she clung desperately to her children – even keeping Mum away from school for company and hiding behind furniture when the school truant officer came knocking.


When Mum told Nan she was engaged to Bob, she was given a long lecture. Nan warned he must have a woman in every port. Nan phoned Cathy, probing for details, but she could find nothing to dissuade Mum from marrying Bob and so instead made his life as difficult as possible.


Nan suffered from violent mood swings, a possessive nature and a viciously wounding tongue. Today she would have therapy and a fistful of pills but in the 1940s no such prescriptions were available. This was the emotional nightmare that awaited my father as he moved into Nan’s flat to convalesce after the sinking of his ship. He soon decided to join Mum on tour and was taken on by her company to play minor stage roles. For Mum the world of dance had been exhilarating and liberating. Freed from the grasp of her mother and the bleak digs, she toured Britain with good friends earning twice the average wage.


My parents’ stage careers ended when Nan’s arthritic kneecap was removed and Mum had to look after her for months. When she tried to go back on tour, wartime regulations forced her to work in a local munitions factory where she loathed the grinding work and the coarse language.
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My parents had decided not to have children, but one night in September 1944 Dad ran out of condoms. With words Mum never forgot Dad assured her, ‘It can’t matter just this once, Eth.’ If condoms had been sold in packets of four rather than three I wouldn’t be here. I was also lucky Mum had not been killed in an air raid as she so loathed the discomfort of the shelters that she took the risk of sleeping in her own bed during the final blitz on London in the winter of 1944.


I was born at home a few minutes after midnight on 17 June 1945, though Dad claimed he heard my first cry a few minutes before the clock chimed. As is common in dancers, Mum’s labour was short but she wanted a girl and was appalled at how ugly I looked, with no hair and a huge mass of yellow pus in my eyes because the midwife hadn’t cleaned them properly. By coincidence the first Labour leader of the LCC, Herbert Morrison, was born with the same condition and lost the sight of one eye. Mum told John Carvel, ‘I thought he looked ugly so I used to put the blankets over his head and tell people not to disturb him. He looked terribly ill for the first few weeks, but was lovely by the time he was six months.’ Mum couldn’t produce milk, so I was bottle-fed from birth.


My earliest memory is of Mum coming home from hospital in February 1948 with my newborn sister Linda, whom I adored. Her arrival coincided with an epidemic of gastro-enteritis which killed many infants, including the sister of the BBC presenter John Humphrys. When I caught it the doctor said I had no chance of surviving and the important thing was to prevent the infection spreading to Linda. While Mum cared for Linda, Nan saved my life. I remember lying on cushions in the armchair while Nan spoon-fed me back to health. Nan and Mum were quite matter-of-fact when recalling this crisis. It was a few months before the start of the NHS and in those days there was nothing unusual about a child dying. I often listened to men and women of my parents’ generation talking about childhood friends who had died simply because their parents could not afford medical care. I recovered but remained thin and weedy throughout my school days, so Mum and Nan were over-protective, worrying about my ‘delicate’ nature and my summer colds. I was fussy about food, and Mum often had to cook something separate for me or wash tomato sauce off baked beans before I would eat them. At secondary school I was the smallest boy out of over 400 in my intake, and only when I started work did I put on some height and weight.


In 1957 Mum spent weeks in hospital being nursed through a hysterectomy complicated by massive fibroids. She and Dad were in awe that all this treatment was free. Without the NHS Mum would not have survived and it was the only policy of the post-war Labour government that my parents supported. Recognising the impact the NHS had on ordinary families, the Tories knew they had to support it or have no hope of returning to power.


21B Shrubbery Road, Streatham, the flat where I was born, was in the respectable Tory-controlled Borough of Wandsworth and the Streatham constituency was one of a handful of inner-London seats which stayed Tory during Labour’s 1945 landslide. When I returned to visit the house thirty-five years later I realised how small it was. Two bedrooms, one large enough for only a single bed and wardrobe, and a kitchen in which it was almost possible to stand in the centre and touch all four walls, off which was a scullery ventilated by a gap between wall and ceiling which opened to the elements. Then there was the immaculately kept front room, the largest in the flat but used only at Christmas and on the rare occasions when anyone visited. It was also where bodies would be laid out in the event of a death. Forbidden as a child to enter the room, I would peer through the glass door at this oasis of cleanliness and quiet. This was my little world and I felt secure in it. While Dad was away Mum used me as a hot water bottle and in the mornings Nan would come in with steaming, sweet tea, which I called ‘tuppatea’. On their regular cinema trips Mum and Dad shared one layer from a box of Milk Tray chocolates and I would wake up to find that they had left me the coffee crème, a real treat in the days of sweet rationing.


Uncle Ken was fighting the Japanese in Burma so Nan took over his small bedroom and I lay in a padded orange box by my parents’ bed. For the first six years of my life Dad escaped this claustrophobic environment by working on fishing trawlers and in the merchant navy. Every few days a postcard would arrive from somewhere in the world with a little message while Nan continued to disparage the Scots in general and Dad in particular. Mum hated the fact that Dad was away so often and when he came home his hands were cut and scarred from handling the hooks and nets on the trawlers. He switched to working on cross-Channel ferries and on one trip he took Linda and me along, but as we didn’t have passports we had to stay on board and could only imagine what exciting adventures lay beyond the harbour at Calais. I would be twenty-one before I went abroad.
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As I was blissfully unaware of the ongoing hostilities between Nan and Dad, my early memories are happy ones. Shrubbery Road was off the busy Streatham High Road so there was no question of being allowed outside the front door to play, but I would sit for hours at the window looking at passing rag-and-bone men and police officers coming and going from the police station opposite. We would wrap our food scraps in newspaper and go into the courtyard at the back of the police station to feed the pigs the police were rearing to help with the food shortage. Living opposite a piggery meant that lots of flies invaded the flat, and strips of sticky flypaper were always hanging from the ceiling. Mum would lift me up to watch flies struggling to escape their doom. This was in the days before television.


Linda and I were the only children living in our flats and it wasn’t until I started school that I met any others. As Mum often worked during the day and Nan was disabled by her missing kneecap, my horizons were confined to our little flat with the occasional walk round to Sunnyhill Road to peer through the windows of the milk-bottling plant or play on Streatham Common. Sometimes we ventured further afield. I remember the excitement when, aged three, I caught my first glimpse of the sea as our train pulled into Brighton. Evenings were spent clustered around the radio listening to the adventures of PC49 and Dick Tracy. Once a week came the luxury of bathtime, soaking in the tin tub filled with hot water from the kettle. Winter fog, smog and snow made the flat even more cosy and I would peer out of the window waiting for Uncle Ken to return from selling cloth in the East End in the hope that he had brought me another tin cowboy, Red Indian or jungle animal. After I’d spent the evening making plasticine figures, Mum or Nan would read me to sleep with Tarzan adventures from the books of Edgar Rice Burroughs.


There were none of the educational toys we now take for granted and the only books at home were my uncle’s Tarzan and cowboy paperbacks. Nan talked to me all the time so at least I developed my verbal skills. Nan wasn’t a convert to Dr Spock’s child-centred theories, and took great pleasure in telling all and sundry how she potty-trained me by rubbing my nose in the mess I once made on the floor. She said I never did it again.
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My parents only attended church for weddings or funerals, but Nan and Mum often went to spiritualist meetings. This did not prevent my mother ensuring I got a place at St Leonard’s, the local C of E primary. To show what a polite little boy I was she dropped her handkerchief from her purse during the interview with the headmaster so that I could dutifully lunge forward and pick it up. Sir Reg Goodwin, the Labour leader of the GLC when I was first elected, had also been to St Leonard’s, though we had little else in common.


Mum and Nan taught me the alphabet, but there was no academic tradition in our family. My parents’ only ambition for me was to get a job with a pension, something no one in our family had ever achieved. Nan even discouraged me from bothering with homework. My first day at St Leonard’s was in a class of forty-eight children sitting in ordered rows. When Mum picked me up my teacher said, ‘He’s a perfect little Christopher Robin,’ and told her how I had stood in front of the rest of the class, entertaining them. Teaching was still by rote as we chanted the alphabet and our times tables. We were told we lived in the largest city on earth (although we had just slipped into second place behind New York) in the most advanced country at the heart of the greatest empire in human history. Other peoples and countries might one day be raised up to our level, even the Americans – a line often repeated in my secondary school. The wall was covered by a vast map of the world on which imperial red was the predominant colour, even though India and Pakistan were already independent. The school was confined to a small site with separate boys’ and girls’ playgrounds, each not much bigger than a substantial living room, so there was no physical education and on the rare occasions that a trip to the local swimming baths was organised I was excused because of my constant colds.


Shortly after I started at St Leonard’s Mum, Dad and I moved to an LCC flat of our own. From the age of seven I walked to the local bus stop and made the two-mile trip from Brixton to Streatham unaccompanied. My parents weren’t worried as in those days passing adults didn’t hesitate to intervene if they saw children either misbehaving or getting into danger, though I was kept home during the ‘great smog’ which killed 12,000 Londoners in December 1952.


Our new three-bedroomed flat at 23 Irby House was a recently built extension to the Tulse Hill estate, a much sought-after part of the LCC’s post-war housing programme. My parents were overjoyed finally to have a place where we could be alone as a family, and Linda and I had our own bedrooms which started to fill with the toys that came with the end of rationing and post-war restrictions. The pair of us loved exploring Brockwell Park and the local bombsites. Apart from washing up my daily chore was to get up first, clean out the ashes from the grate and light the fire. Central heating was a distant luxury and in winter there was often ice inside our windows. On the rare summer days when it was really hot we went to Brockwell Park Lido, where Dad impressed us with his swimming skills.


Our neighbours all seemed to be called Henry, George, Albert, Agnes, Gladys or Bessie and respectable working-class values were reinforced in our house by the Daily Express. Mothers obeyed the weekly rota which demanded that they scrubbed the stairways on their hands and knees. My parents did not swear and there was little bad language outside the home. Conversation was polite to the point of being stilted, as is well captured in Mike Leigh’s 2004 film Vera Drake. There was no discussion of politics or religion outside of the immediate family, and no discussion of sex anywhere.


What was discussed was the war, which had changed the lives of a generation. Men who might never have left their towns before found themselves on the other side of the world and women who had never worked outside the home filled the jobs those men left, producing the munitions they fired. Every aspect of Britain’s class system was challenged during those six years of social upheaval. My parents felt the war had robbed them of the best years of their lives, but for others who were lucky enough not to be in the front line the war freed them from grinding poverty or menial work and widened their horizons.


The war anchored all our lives. Endless films, books, radio and later TV programmes ensured that the war was relived and debated on a daily basis. The games we played on local bombsites involved shooting Germans and Japanese, although the ritual slaughter of American Indians ran a close second. My mates and I pored over pictures of British prisoners tortured by their captors. For my generation Nazism was the defining reference point for pure evil.


I am still proud that for eighteen months Britain stood alone against the greatest political and moral evil in human history, and that the country survived the power of the Nazi war machine. Cordell Hull, President Roosevelt’s Secretary of State, said in his memoirs: ‘Never had I admired a people more than I admired the British in the summer and autumn of 1940. Even their children seemed to realise that upon their indomitable spirit depended not only their own fate, but also that of the whole democratic world.’ We wondered if we could equal our parents’ sacrifice if we ever faced such a challenge. Our respect for them meant there was no question of forgetting the two minutes’ silence on Poppy Day. Everything stopped at 11 a.m. on 11 November, even the traffic in the middle of a working day.


I dreaded the compulsory national service which loomed over my future with endless warnings that ‘national service will beat that out of you’ whenever I was bad. As any sentence for misconduct while in the army was added to your two-year stint I feared that with my lip I might never get out. Fortunately the Tory government abolished the draft shortly before I became liable.




*





My parents gave me a clear sense of right and wrong and the gift of guilt, which overwhelmed me whenever I misbehaved. After I stole a small dictionary from W.H. Smith I hid it in my room for years, convinced that people would know it was stolen just by looking at it. On a visit to one of Mum’s friends I swung from a branch that snapped off in my hand and was made to feel embarrassed. My idea of an exciting adventure was when a friend and I went into adjacent phone boxes and spent tuppence phoning each other. This was my first ever phone call. When King George VI died in 1952 my sister and I were firmly told that we had to be sombre all day, with no running or shouting.


The strictest rule of all was the ban on entering our parents’ bedroom. There was the occasional glimpse through the opening or closing door but no question of crawling into bed with them. On Sunday mornings my sister and I would wake up to a Wagon Wheel, a piece of fruit and a glass of milk which we had to consume in silence before we let ourselves out to play on the local estate while our parents had the morning to themselves.


Looking back, it’s easy to criticise my parents for not being more tactile but my Mum had seen Nan cry only once in her life – after Nan had all her teeth taken out. My parents had been raised at a time when medical advice was that children should be left to cry in their prams rather than be cuddled or they would never be tough enough to survive. Children were seen but not heard. The American baby expert of the interwar years, John Watson, advised parents to break the spirit of children as a horse is broken, and at the same time the British government advised that children should be locked in their bedroom at night with the father keeping the key to prevent the mother going to the child when it cried. Linda and I were not raised in this brutal fashion but the 1950s were still a time when boys were definitely not supposed to cry and I insisted that Mum and Dad didn’t kiss me goodbye when they came to school for fear of being laughed at. I found it liberating when men later began to show their feelings in public.


Initially my sister and I were each other’s best friend, although Nan stirred up trouble because she thought Linda was Dad’s favourite. As we entered our teens with our own sets of friends, we rowed and fought. One nasty trick of mine was to sit behind Linda on the bus and tie her pigtails around the handrail so she would have a struggle to get off the bus at our stop. As Linda told John Carvel, ‘You could never get your own back if he decided to show you up. Nothing embarrassed him.’ Linda also recalled, ‘We were always brought up as equals. There was never any question that Ken was more important than I was because he was a boy. Mum’s opinion was never any less important than Dad’s and Dad always did the housework. I don’t think Ken has ever felt superior to women, the way a lot of men did.’


Sex remained behind a closed door in our sheltered little world. Mum stopped our mixed bathtimes when I was seven and I really had no idea about this mysterious world of reproduction until I was in secondary school. There was never anything on the radio relating to sex, and even our first television portrayed an unnaturally sanitised world.


Before the first Clean Air Act was passed in 1956 most Londoners heated their homes with coal fires that produced a great deal of smoke, and with over a million manufacturing jobs in the city the fine black soot in the atmosphere demanded an endless round of cleaning. At the end of winter came the great spring clean during which everything was taken down and washed: the water would be black. Visits from friends or family unleashed another bout of cleaning and thus were discouraged, given the work involved. Callers were usually kept engaged in a long conversation at the front door rather than being invited in. It was not until I had my own flat with wave after wave of visiting friends and overnight guests that I realised how strange this was.


In today’s London, with a vast array of cuisines on offer, it’s hard to believe that we put up with the monotonous post-war diet that included liberal quantities of corned beef, Spam and bread and dripping. Europeans had mayonnaise and real orange juice, but we made do with salad cream and orange squash. The ritual of the Sunday roast hung over childhood like a promise of indigestion. Around nine o’clock on Sunday morning Mum would get up to put the cabbage on to boil and a chunk of mutton into the oven with the potatoes. By midday the cabbage would have simmered into an unrecognisable green mass made edible only with large quantities of HP Sauce. After masticating our way through the vast pile of food we all fell asleep in front of the radio to be woken in time for tea by Liberace tinkling away on the ivories. It was not until I went to work in South Kensington that I discovered the exotic foods we now take for granted, and I feel that I didn’t have a good meal until Chinese and Indian restaurants spread across the city. (When she was in her mid-seventies Mum came to live with me and complained, ‘The carrots could have done with another hour, dear.’)
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Like most South Londoners we used local facilities and trips by bus ‘up to London’ were a rare adventure reserved for Regent’s Park Zoo, the Tower of London, the Monument or Madame Tussaud’s. Like tourists in their own city, my parents never visited the same place twice.


The cinema played a big part in our lives. Nan regaled us with the plot-lines of all the great movies from the twenties and thirties. For a generation unable to visit the overseas graves or memorials of the relatives they lost in the war, a trip to the seaside was a big treat and so film brought the whole outside world into their lives even if it was only in the form of Hollywood sets. Nan was determined that my arrival would not interrupt their thrice-weekly visits to matinees, so they took along a tin of condensed milk and if I started to cry my dummy would be dipped in the tin and stuck in my mouth. I grew up with a love of cinema and a set of bad teeth. When we were older, the whole family would go to the Astoria in the evening, thinking nothing of joining a queue round the block for the second showing if the first was full, and later walking home eating a bag of chips in the crisp night air. At the end of every film the audience stood rigidly to attention while the National Anthem was played.


This routine was killed off by the arrival of our first television in 1955. My parents’ opposition to public ownership meant they weren’t prepared to buy a TV until the advent of commercial television allowed them to do their bit by supporting free enterprise. Apart from Mum’s daily small bets on the horses, our family was not interested in sport – other than in the football pools, which led to a discussion every Sunday lunchtime about what we would do if we won the £70,000 top prize. Dad’s dream of buying a small Scottish island and living in splendid isolation filled my sister with horror.


Through satellite TV and the internet today’s children have access to more information than presidents or prime ministers did in Victorian times, but in the 1950s the outside world intruded on us only dimly. My earliest political memory is of the Pathé Newsreels at the cinema reporting that the war in Korea was dragging on; but the death penalty was one issue we were all conscious of, as our parents argued the rights or wrongs of the hangings of Derek Bentley and Ruth Ellis. I couldn’t understand how Ruth Ellis could have killed the man she loved and I remember the gentleness with which Dad explained Ruth’s act: ‘Sometimes you love someone so much you don’t want anybody else to have them.’ I valued that moment because my father spoke to me as an adult rather than as a child. Our parents protected us by hiding the unpleasant but I wanted to be treated as a grown-up and was frustrated when they shielded me too much.


My heroes were two spacemen (they weren’t yet called astronauts). Every week I eagerly waited for the Eagle comic to continue Dan Dare’s endless struggle against the evil Mekon. Dan Dare was the firm-jawed, clear-eyed honourable Englishman who never panicked. On radio’s Journey Into Space, set in the distant future of the 1960s and 70s, Captain Jet Morgan led the first British expedition to the moon (without an American in sight) and went on to defeat the Martian invasion of Earth. Andrew Faulds, the actor who played Morgan, later became a right-wing Labour MP who denounced the left in general and the GLC under my leadership in particular.


Although in some years I qualified for free school meals (so joined the queue of boys waiting until paying pupils had eaten first), Mum and Dad always scraped together enough to have a week or two by the seaside at Camber Sands or Seasalter on the Kent coast, and once we had acquired a car we went to Dunoon in Scotland to see Auntie Cathy. There were no motorways, and we had to leave at the crack of dawn to reach Carlisle by midnight, when the four of us would sleep in the car. My sister and I drove our parents mad by arguing for most of the journey before reaching Dunoon by the ferry across the Clyde in time for lunch. I loved the massed pipe bands and caber tossing at the Cowal Highland Games, but I didn’t like it when Cathy’s brother-in-law, Uncle David, embarrassed me by insisting I sit on his lap. Forty years later I discovered that my cousins had been sexually abused by him. They never told their parents, and it was only after one of them died that his wife told me how he had broken down and told her what his uncle had done to him. The secrecy about sex in 1950s Britain enabled paedophiles to operate with impunity.
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Dad found work as a window cleaner on the shop fronts of Streatham High Road and after a few years managed to buy an old car to carry the ladders. In the evenings he worked as a stagehand, shifting scenery at the Streatham Hill Theatre. This was one of the largest theatres in Britain and as plays finished their West End run it was often the first port of call on their national tour. Dad got complimentary tickets for Monday-night performances and I was the only kid I knew who regularly went to the theatre. My pocket money came from a paper round, but I got a much better job one panto season when Hughie Green played Ali Baba and paid me thirty shillings a week to act as his stooge. This involved struggling into a woman’s corset every night while pretending I had never seen one before.


Mum worked as a cinema usherette but when her babysitting arrangement broke down I had to go with her every evening for a week to watch Bill Haley in Rock Around the Clock. I was bored out of my skull. Mum also worked in the local baker’s, and on Saturday mornings at Freemans catalogue-shopping headquarters. Linda and I were left alone in the house with strict instructions not to answer the door to anyone. My parents took on this burden of work because they wanted to buy their own home. Two or three ‘slum-dwellers’, as Mum called them, had moved on to our estate and she feared that this was the start of a long decline. However, Mum and Dad found the £4 a week they put aside for the deposit only kept pace with the increase in house prices. Eventually the estate agent arranged to loan them £100 to top up the £400 they had saved, and we moved two miles down the road to West Norwood. Having grown up during the Depression, Mum and Dad saw debt as something frightening and from the moment they took out their mortgage in 1957 they worked all hours in order to pay it off as soon as possible.


While Nan was babysitting us one evening she complained of a terrible headache. I tried to stay awake because she seemed so ill, but I eventually fell asleep on the end of my bed. I woke in the morning to be told that Nan had suffered a stroke and was in hospital. After she recovered she came to live with us and, following the death of Auntie Pat, Uncle Ken and his bulldog also moved in.
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I was in my final year at St Leonard’s when Aunt Pat died of TB. My parents told me that I shouldn’t talk about her death at school, almost as though it was a matter of shame. Eight years later a chest X-ray revealed a TB scar on my lung. I presumed I had contracted it from Aunt Pat, but my immune system defeated it. Pat’s death might have been a factor in what became my worst year at school as I sat in the back row giggling with the other boys doomed to fail their 11-plus. One day that summer we were in the Streatham milk bar with one of Dad’s friends, who was proud his son had got into grammar school, while my parents said nothing about me. Mum took me aside and said that Dad couldn’t bring himself to say where I was going because I had failed my 11-plus.


Despite this my parents felt I might have a second chance in the brand-new, eight-storey Tulse Hill Comprehensive, although with half a dozen grammar or fee-paying schools in the same catchment area it was comprehensive in name only. The thirteen forms in each year were rigidly streamed by ability. The top three were deemed to have academic potential and the bottom seven were expected to learn vocational skills in the twenty-six school workshops. The remaining three were intermediate ability classes, most of whose members were expected to sink down rather than rise up, and I was placed in the bottom one. Clifford Thomas, the headmaster, had been deputy head at Dulwich College and believed that if he imported a public-school ethos boys would be dragged up by their bootstraps.


Philip Hobsbaum, my first form master and English teacher, was an extraordinary man: a bearded, East-End-born secular Jewish socialist with a volcanic temper. After Cambridge he worked for a theatrical agency before becoming a brilliant, charismatic teacher who brought out the best in any child. In the 1950s, when racism and sexism were the norm, and women were expected to confine themselves to housework, he challenged traditional views and stereotypes and seemed almost revolutionary to us. While other classes sat in rows, he would sweep the chairs and desks to one side to stage an impromptu play or mock trial. The main wall was rapidly covered by a class newspaper. Philip later told John Carvel: ‘[Ken] was highly articulate and very friendly, a marvellous communicator. I thought he would have a future in journalism or advertising rather than politics. At the age of eleven he had great ability to get his points across and he was unflappable. He would always turn aside any aggression from other boys with a joke.’ Philip introduced me to politics, too. Recalling a school visit to watch the House of Lords in session, he said that I was ‘completely at home there, not at all in awe of institutions or being on strange territory’.


Late 1956 was an interesting time. During my first few weeks at Tulse Hill School, Britain, France and Israel invaded Egypt to prevent that country nationalising the strategically important Suez Canal and my parents and uncle were consumed by anti-Americanism when the US forced Britain into a humiliating withdrawal. At the same time Russian tanks rolled into Hungary and President Eisenhower was re-elected, while black Americans resumed their long struggle for civil rights. We debated all these issues at school, and in the first speech of my life I denounced Britain’s Suez adventure: our biggest foreign policy disaster until the war in Iraq nearly fifty years later. When Philip staged a mock general election he decided I should be the Liberal candidate. When I asked Dad what I should say in my election speech, he told me, ‘Just take a bit of the Labour policy and a bit of the Tory policy.’ One consequence of my growing interest in politics was that it allowed me to row with Dad almost every evening at dinner time.


Although Philip taught me for only a year, he transformed my academic prospects by encouraging me to read – among other books, Nineteen Eighty-Four (the most important book in forming my political beliefs) – and at the end of my second year I was one of only two boys in my class to be promoted to the academic stream. Now being taught alongside middle-class students, I stayed friends with my old classmates from estates in Lambeth and Clapham. Hobsbaum went on to teach Seamus Heaney and other writers at Queen’s University Belfast and was appointed Professor of English at Glasgow University, where he encouraged successful writers including the Booker prizewinner James Kelman. When I became leader of the GLC in the early 1980s, Philip came to see me at County Hall. I expected an old white-haired bear of a man to come hobbling into my office and was amazed to realise that Philip was only about ten years older than me and was quite small. By then the author of several books, he had retained his Jewish roots and told me how he had been beaten up on his first day at grammar school by a boy shouting that Jews killed Christ.
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While Philip had awakened an interest in politics and armed me with some facts with which to challenge my parents, I was a long way from any coherent beliefs. Mainly I was arguing against things as they were, rather than proposing any alternatives. My social attitudes reflected the prevailing moralising ethos of the time. In his diaries, Tony Benn describes how the chaplain at the RAF training camp where he was stationed in 1945 led a debate about whether sex outside marriage could ever be justified. The conclusion was that it couldn’t be, and this was still the prevalent view in the 1950s as my friends and I struggled to come to terms with puberty and hormones. There was no sex education provided by the school or our parents and absolutely nothing helpful on television. As in so much else, Orwell’s Nineteen Eighty-Four changed my outlook as I read about Julia and her normal sexual appetites. My classmates shared my amazement that a woman might actually desire sex. Only later did I discover that Orwell had created a woman of the kind he wanted rather than one he knew.


Our parents warned us about ‘Dirty Old Men’. This did not stop boys getting free equipment for their bikes by going into the back room with one of the shop assistants in the bike shop at Herne Hill. Mum wouldn’t let me have a bike because it was ‘too dangerous’, so I could only guess what horrors happened in the bike shop. My attempt to change Mum’s mind by practising on my friend’s machine failed when I crashed into the front of a car and staggered home covered in blood.


My other inspirational teacher at the school was Raymond Rivers, who taught biology from my third year. His belief in the rigour of scientific method and determination to challenge anything unproven set the pattern that I hope I have lived up to. He was a committed atheist at a time when that could be a problem for teachers, who were required to state their religion when applying for a post, and declaring for anything other than the Church of England could influence the Appointments Committee. Raymond was a critic of the faux-public-school ethos of the headmaster, who tried to drive him out by removing him from his form class. This petty decision was reversed after boys asked their parents to sign a petition. I always believed Raymond’s iconoclasm and atheism were part of a socialist worldview and it was a shock when after a gap of forty years he came to lunch at City Hall and told me he was a lifelong Tory and a strong supporter of Mrs Thatcher. Fortunately he was also a strong supporter of the congestion charge.
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Raymond stimulated my fascination with biology, in particular with reptiles and amphibians. Starting with one newt and a few tadpoles caught in Brockwell Park, my bedroom rapidly turned into a miniature version of the Zoo’s Reptile House. All four walls were lined with three tiers of aquariums and vivariums containing tropical bullfrogs, newts, salamanders, snakes, lizards (including two monitor lizards nearly a metre long) and an alligator which Mum worried would escape and eat our dogs. I couldn’t resist taking my pets into the baker’s where Mum worked to scare the staff but the only time my passion for reptiles involved any real danger was when a friend went on holiday and asked me to look after his poisonous Formosan vipers. He left me the serum which had to be administered within minutes of a bite to avert paralysis and possible death.


The heated tanks turned my bedroom subtropical, with rich smells wafting through the house. The worst moment was when the alligator passed a fishy stool into its eighty-degree water, where it gently simmered all day while I was at school. We came home to find the overpowering stench of alligator poo. I often forgot to put the lid back on the jam jar of bluebottle pupae and several hundred would hatch in the heated room and Mum would arrive home to be greeted by a huge cloud of bluebottles orbiting the light bulb. She stopped cleaning my room.


My interest in astronomy was fuelled by Patrick Moore’s TV programme The Sky At Night, and Dad was as excited as I was when we went along to the newly opened Planetarium in Baker Street. At a time when society valued academic achievement more than celebrity no one thought it surprising that the lecturer was the Astronomer Royal. I also became closer to Dad when we spent several Sunday mornings mixing concrete to build my first pond.


I still hung around the streets with friends, but spent more time at London Zoo. I loved Guy the Gorilla, sometimes throwing him a bar of milk chocolate which he would delicately unwrap and slowly eat. Fifteen years later when he died under anaesthetic while having dental work I felt guilty and didn’t complain when the zoo banned the public from feeding the animals.


Saturday afternoons were often spent at a pet shop in Tooting, chatting to the owner George Boyce about his imported reptiles, his Rotary Club activities and his Tory beliefs, but London’s leading pet shop was Palmers, by Camden Town tube. Before laws regulated the keeping of dangerous animals you could buy a lion cub for £5 and in 1960 they had a young gorilla on sale for £1,200. I stood in front of its cage for ages fantasising about stealing it.
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There were worse problems at home than those caused by my menagerie. I was too young to realise that Dad had the patience of a saint and it’s hard to believe how he tolerated years of withering sarcasm from Nan and her attempts to poison my relationship with him. Another cause of strife was that Uncle Ken had promised to set up a joint firm with Dad to sell cloth to London tailors and this was why my parents bought a house big enough to accommodate Nan and my uncle. As interest rates rose my parents struggled to make ends meet and with Uncle Ken’s failure to establish the business they weren’t getting the income they had been promised. Finally, they told Uncle Ken and Nan they would have to leave. There followed several more rancorous weeks in the house before Uncle Ken moved in with the woman who would become his third wife, taking Nan with him. Now realising, at last, what Dad had been going through, I switched loyalties even to the extent of locking Nan out of the house when she went to the outside privy. With relationships completely severed it would be four years until Uncle Ken came to tell us that Nan had lost her sight after another stroke and had only a few months to live.


Things were also not going well at school. Although Tulse Hill produced the actors Ken Cranham and Tim Roth, Guardian journalist David Hencke and the poet Linton Kwesi Johnson, the school had grown to its maximum size of 2,300 boys and it became a more brutal place. In an interview with my biographer Andrew Hosken, a former pupil called John Land said, ‘They used to say that if you could survive Tulse Hill School, you could survive anywhere.’ Another pupil, John Harris, recalled, ‘The cane was used quite regularly in the school … certainly bullying did happen and I learned to deal with that,’ and remembered seeing older boys hanging a science teacher out of the window of the first-floor laboratory by his braces. Hosken also quotes Ian Scott, who recalls that I was one of those boys ‘with a ball of string and an apple core half covered with frog spawn in his pocket’.


In the 1950s schools had several periods of games and PE each week, but I was still smaller and weedier than other boys in my class and never managed to jump over the horse or shin up the ropes. In cross-country running I came in ahead of only one incredibly fat boy. Our PE instructors behaved like the worst kind of British Army sergeant-majors, believing that if they humiliated you often enough you would eventually succeed, but all they did was destroy any interest I might ever have had in sport.


I started to play truant from school with the friends I had left behind in the sixth stream, hanging out in the derelict windmill in Brixton Hill. In school I would skip lessons and hide in the library, reading books about natural history and, for the first time, about politics. In my fourth year I was bottom of the class and forged my report to hide my lack of progress from Mum and Dad.


Mum told Woman magazine in 1985, ‘I remember saying to Bob I don’t know what will become of him because he didn’t like school. He wasn’t interested in going out with girls, or going to football. He wasn’t interested in anything except his pet lizards and friends – always wanted to be the boss. No, you couldn’t say he was all that popular when young.’


I was one of the few boys in the fifth year who wasn’t made a prefect, which probably had something to do with a speech I made at the school’s open day when we debated the motion ‘School Days are the Happiest Days of Your Life’. I opposed the motion and attacked the price of the school uniform, which was only available from Thomas’s at Herne Hill, who had been granted a monopoly. Parents complained that school uniforms did not last as long as they should. There were rumours that there might be a relationship between the headmaster and the firm, based on no more evidence than their shared surname. Uncle Ken said it was made from overpriced low-grade wool. When I repeated this in my speech there was a burst of applause from the parents in the audience but I later learned that the staff had discussed whether or not I should be asked to leave the Debating Society.


In those days only one child in twenty in Britain went to university and my parents had no such expectations for me, although my sister was doing better, having passed her 11-plus and gone to a grammar school. When the time came for O levels I passed in only English Literature and Art. Two further attempts added only Geography and English Language, and so when summer term ended in 1962 I joined my dad on his window-cleaning round and started looking for work in the small ads of London’s three evening newspapers.


My school days had not been happy and it hurt that I had not been made a prefect. I was glad to leave, but I knew I had wasted my opportunities and was embarrassed that Linda was doing so much better at her grammar school. For all my daydreams about being a famous scientist or another David Attenborough I feared I didn’t have the ability or self-discipline to turn them into reality.
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I was willing to help Dad on his window-cleaning round, but with chilly early autumn mornings and chapped hands I soon realised that window cleaning wasn’t for me. I was passionate about animals, but neither London Zoo nor Gerald Durrell’s zoo in Jersey had vacancies so I became an apprentice animal technician at the Chester Beatty Research Institute attached to the Royal Marsden hospital in Fulham Road. My first weekly pay packet contained six pounds and five shillings, but the job also came with a pension, so fulfilling my parents’ ambition for me. They were delighted. At the job interview the company secretary graphically mapped out my life, saying I would start pension contributions at eighteen, I would retire at sixty-five and most likely die by sixty-eight (then the average male life span). As, of course, it was unthinkable that I would ever leave a job with a pension, I sat on the bus each day calculating that I would make the same journey 26,000 times before I retired.


The animal unit had eight or nine teenagers and five adults. The boss, Charlie Smith, had a robust approach to management. If I made a mistake he would grab me by the ear and drag me to see what I had done wrong. Everyone knew their place and we saw nothing odd about this. The work was repetitive and dull but I was also working with women. Tulse Hill School had been a boys-only institution, with male teachers, so the transition to work was exciting. Women technicians had a separate tea room as it was felt men and women shouldn’t mix. The teenagers were all virgins as women didn’t in general have sex with someone unless they were going to marry them. If a woman slept with a man because he promised marriage and reneged she could theoretically sue for breach of promise under the Married Women’s Property Act 1882 because her marriageability was damaged. (The 1882 Act remained in force until 1970.) Men expected the woman they married to be a virgin but didn’t believe the same rule should apply to them. We heard lurid tales of brides who had hysterics on their wedding night after seeing a penis for the first time. (In 1973 a friend was present as a doctor asked a man why he hadn’t brought his wife to hospital when her breast cancer was so obvious. ‘What kind of pervert do you think I am? I’ve never seen my wife naked,’ the man replied.)


Films such as Saturday Night and Sunday Morning and Room at the Top added to our fear as we watched lives ruined by pregnancies and illegal abortions. Many friends got married out of sheer sexual frustration rather than love, or as the Rolling Stones put it in ‘Sittin’ on a Fence’: ‘they just get married ’cos there’s nothing else to do’. All my schoolmates did so by their early twenties. I hated the way men talked about women and began to prefer female company. When I did have girlfriends we faced the problem of where to go to be alone, as parks were still patrolled by keepers on bikes ensuring that moral standards were upheld.


Old hands at work scared new recruits with tales of haemorrhoids being operated on next door in the Royal Marsden. We listened to horrific tales of people limping to the toilet and screaming with pain for days following surgery, wondering how long before it was our turn, unaware that with the advent of better diets and over-the-counter creams we were unlikely to have to face the ordeal.


That time now seems like another world – shabby, dull and dingy. Travelling to work, everyone dressed in shades of grey, with colour a rare exception. Young men were sent home from City firms for daring to wear a pale blue shirt instead of a white one. Yet we were just a couple of years away from the explosion of music, fashion, lifestyle change and psychedelia that would be known as the Swinging Sixties.


Realising what I had thrown away at school, I started evening classes at Norwood Technical College and got O levels in Human Anatomy, Physiology and Hygiene and an A level in Zoology. As my interest in politics grew the local library became a haven where I pored over The Economist, the New Statesman and the daily papers.


From a wholly working-class Tory background I was suddenly surrounded by a very left-wing environment at work. Of the technicians I worked with, all bar one were Labour supporters. Their influence combined with the dramas unfolding in the world outside changed my politics for ever.


The seminal event was the Cuban missile crisis of October 1962. Following President Kennedy’s blockade of Cuba we talked about the real possibility of full-blown nuclear war and what we would do in the four minutes left to us if the air-raid sirens sounded. Our virginity narrowed the range of options. My workmates wanted at any cost to avoid catastrophe but I was angry that the US could unilaterally blockade Cuba for introducing missiles when they had already surrounded the Soviet Union with nuclear bases.
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If Cuba was the worst crisis of the times, the Profumo scandal was the most bizarre. It’s hard to imagine the impact the affair had on how we viewed our rulers and betters. There was a code of silence in the media about the sexual shenanigans of the upper reaches of society. The establishment could lead lives of debauchery as long as it was hidden from the masses.


Apart from the odd society divorce in the 1950s nothing prepared us for stories of nude bathing and orgies at Cliveden, the country seat of the Observer’s editor David Astor. The news that Christine Keeler had been sleeping both with John Profumo, the Secretary of State for War, and with a Soviet spy unleashed a media storm. MPs pretended to be shocked that a minister had lied to Parliament and pontificated about the threat to national security. Papers reported rumours of sex parties where a cabinet minister was seen naked except for a hood and some honey smeared over his genitals, which were inserted into a jar full of bees. For Middle England the real scandal was not that Profumo shared Keeler with a spy but with a black man, ‘Lucky’ Gordon.


Centuries spent persuading us that the great and the good were born to rule and were of higher moral calibre were blown away that summer of 1963. Radio and television had until then been polite to the point of obsequiousness. All that now changed as programmes such as Beyond the Fringe and David Frost’s That Was The Week That Was used satire to debunk the self-serving image of the governing class.
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When I got home on Friday 22 November there had been nothing to suggest that this day would change my life. Mum gave me my dinner on a tray so I could go into the living room and catch the end of the BBC’s news round-up with Cliff Michelmore. The television came on just as the phone rang on Michelmore’s desk and after a moment’s silence he relayed the news that President Kennedy had been pronounced dead. I went and told Mum and Dad but Mum thought I was joking. The BBC replaced its scheduled programmes with sombre music and ITV was forced to do the same after a storm of protest from viewers as they began the scheduled episode of Emergency Ward 10.


We spent the rest of that evening glued to the television as details of the assassination came through including the arrest of Lee Harvey Oswald. We didn’t take seriously the suggestion by some in the American media that this could be a Soviet plot and Mum was more concerned that Vice-President Johnson looked like an American gangster. That weekend became a crash course in American politics for the hundreds of millions watching and, although I didn’t realise it at the time, it started an obsession with politics that would change the course of my life. Because Telstar, the first US communications satellite, had recently been launched we were getting US television coverage almost as it happened and there was a feeling that the whole world was watching these events unfold. The following day over dinner we watched as Jack Ruby shot Oswald live on television, an event Mum dismissed as ‘just what you’d expect from Americans’.


Although I was critical of Kennedy over the Cuban missile crisis I was devastated by his death. He had grown in office and in his final year as president I had been moved by the stand he’d taken on civil rights, and with the nuclear test ban treaty it seemed that Kennedy might bring the Cold War to an end. I was also impressed by the way his brother Robert dealt firmly with the Southern segregationists. The powerful imagery of Kennedy’s funeral both set in train the legend of the modern Camelot, as it was intended to do, and drove my interest in politics.
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Back in Britain, my political allegiance was settled not just because the Tories imploded but because a dynamic young leader took over the Labour party. Harold Wilson embraced classlessness and meritocracy and promised the modernisation of Britain. He dominated the politics of the time as Tony Blair did thirty years later, but, unlike Blair, Wilson was grounded in the Labour movement and did not believe that the private sector was always superior to the public one.


I literally trembled with excitement as Labour won the 1964 election, believing that Wilson would transform Britain and abolish poverty. My rows with Dad increased due to his cynicism about Wilson’s motives but as the Labour leader began to disappoint me I drifted leftwards, never forgiving him for dashing the hopes he raised – which led to the return of the Tories six years later. Each generation in turn is seduced by leaders who promise so much and deliver so little, creating a cynicism which destroys the hope that parties can transform society. Perhaps it’s part of growing up, but I never again invested so much hope in a politician.


I consumed books on the USA past and present and believed in the ideal and promise of America. I followed the 1964 American election contest between Johnson and Barry Goldwater (the G. W. Bush of his day). I was addicted to Slattery’s People (the West Wing of 1965) in which Richard Crenna played the minority leader in a state senate. I was gripped as he dealt with local problems and politics and thought what a great job that would be.


Another hero – an unlikely one for a young atheist like me – had been the octogenarian Pope John XXIII who, after decades of reactionary leadership in the Catholic Church, was elected as a stop-gap in 1958 but had gone on to transform the church until his death in 1963. One hundred years ago the Catholic Church was hostile to democracy, signed a treaty with Mussolini and did not oppose the rise of Hitler in Germany. Catholicism impacted on our family because Auntie Cathy married a Catholic and had to promise that the children would be raised as Catholics. As my cousins left Dunoon in search of work they stayed with us in London, bringing tales of religious bigotry between Scottish Catholics and Protestants.


The first sign of change was when John XXIII appeared on the balcony overlooking St Peter’s Square and, unlike his predecessor Pius XII, opened his arms wide to include the crowd in his blessing. He convened the second ever Vatican Council, unleashing reform as the bishops and cardinals debated the role of the church. He struck a blow against anti-Semitism by absolving Jews of the murder of Jesus Christ. He began a dialogue with other faiths and ended the ban on Catholics even entering a Protestant church. One ex-Catholic friend assured me that before John XXIII any Catholic tourist who wandered into a Protestant church while sightseeing was automatically excommunicated from the church. He set up a commission to review the ban on contraception and in the last months of his life began to address the role of women in the church. All this was resisted by the Curia, the bureaucrats who run the church, so when showing visitors around the Vatican John XXIII joked, ‘I’m only the Pope around here.’


The Swinging Sixties had also arrived while these exciting political changes were going on. I no longer spent lunchtime in the museums of South Kensington but strolled the King’s Road appreciating the receding hemlines. As a fan of Bond books I read that he had olives for breakfast and, seeing them for the first time, I thought it would be sexy to do the same. I found them disgusting. My conservative moral values were under assault. I still felt that promiscuity was a bad thing but would have made an exception for myself had the chance arisen. Sadly, any chance of romance was dramatically reduced by my herpetological hobby. In all the Saturday afternoons I spent chatting to other reptile enthusiasts in George Boyce’s pet shop, only one young woman ever came in and she was dating another collector. I was undoubtedly a bit of a geek, very ungroovy and still living with my parents, so I was quite shocked when Mum announced, ‘Now you’re working you can stay out all night if you want,’ to which Dad replied, ‘I don’t know about that, Eth.’


Different rules applied to my sister. Linda’s pregnancy at sixteen was the death knell for my priggishness. As kids we had been best friends but grew apart in our early teens. We knew our family was slightly weird and suspected that Mum and Dad preferred our two dogs to us as their love was unconditional and they didn’t answer back. But Linda and I reacted differently to our family. I decided I did not want kids, but she escaped the family by creating her own as soon as she could, getting married and having two adorable children. She created a happy, child-centred family which owed nothing to our rather Victorian upbringing.


Nowadays teenage pregnancy is commonplace but in 1965 it was a very different story. Mum went on endlessly about what the neighbours would think and the shame Linda had brought on us. Given Mum’s own illegitimate birth and uncle’s annulled marriage, double standards were certainly at work. Dad was much more supportive and I was firmly on Linda’s side.


It would be five years before Linda got a council flat, so her husband Malcolm moved in with us and with the birth of Maxine and then Terry the house was a livelier and happier place, if also a more cramped one. I joined Malcolm on his Friday-night South London pub crawls. The house vibrated with pop music as the Beatles, the Stones and Bob Dylan changed how we thought and lived. Their music was more of a challenge to Conservatism than any of the politicians with the exception of Roy Jenkins, the Labour Home Secretary, who liberalised censorship, divorce, abortion and homosexuality.
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Uncle Ken came to say Nan was dying and we went to see her on Christmas morning. I was distraught to see that the woman who had been such an influence on my life (as well as having saved it) was blind, frail and barely able to leave her bed. For the three months remaining to her we took turns to sit with her but I was warned not to say I was a Labour supporter as the shock might kill her, so we talked of her childhood, the wars, and her hero Sir Winston Churchill.


Dad had always forgiven Nan because of her difficult life, but on her last night before she slipped into unconsciousness she told Dad she was sorry for the way she had treated him. As we followed the hearse to the crematorium everybody in the streets stopped and took off their hats, as was the custom in those days. Like Herbert Morrison, Nan was born the year before the LCC was created and died as it was absorbed into the Greater London Council.


That autumn Ian Smith’s racist government in Rhodesia declared independence to prevent black majority rule. In every other colonial rebellion, British troops had been sent to restore order, but Wilson feared there would be a backlash if he sided with black Africans against our white ‘kith and kin’. I had furious rows with friends who didn’t believe black people were ready to govern themselves or shouldn’t be allowed to govern whites. These rows brought me closer to the Ghanaians I worked with at Chester Beatty and for the first time I had black friends.


Although I was still a bit of a prig, I was changing. I no longer wished to spend my life safely accumulating a pension, so I quit work to hitch-hike through Africa with my best friend Mick Towns. I had read The Year of the Gorilla by George Schaller and wanted to reach the remote area on the Uganda–Rwanda border where these gentle animals lived. We planned to travel along the coast of North Africa to Cairo and get a boat up the Nile to Uganda, though in the end our journey took a rather different course. Neither of us had left Britain before so we rushed to get our passports and injections to inoculate us against various diseases. We were not helped by the Labour chancellor Jim Callaghan, who introduced an emergency budget measure which stopped anyone from leaving the country with more than £50. While it was possible to have two weeks’ holiday in Spain with that sum, we wondered how far we would get before our money ran out.


We knew nobody who had hitch-hiked in Africa and so we relied on books and magazine articles. The only advice from Mick’s dad was to look out for the amazing rolls the French made with real butter. They were called ‘croissants’, he told us.
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We spent the morning of Wednesday 28 September 1966 packing our rucksacks, which weighed well over 50lb each, and then the whole family, including Linda and baby Max, piled into Dad’s car for the drive to Dover to see us off. Arriving in Calais too late to hitch a lift, we spent our first night under canvas. The local police who were observing us thought it was hilarious when I fell backwards into a ditch as we tried to erect the tent.


The warnings we’d heard that French drivers rarely gave lifts were confirmed as we wasted two days trying to get one. My diary records that those who did pick us up included a man armed with a gas spray gun in case he was attacked and a woman who worked in educational TV. ‘Girls are very confident here,’ I wrote. ‘One who gave us a lift just turned round and said everyone would think Mick was homosexual because of his long hair. I was stunned at her frankness.’ The weather was terrible, and I was shocked that northern France was so run down and ramshackle. I wrote, ‘We can see the price France must pay for President de Gaulle’s nuclear madness.’ (France had been conducting tests on nuclear weapons in the deserts of Algeria since 1960.) Older women were invariably dressed in black and ‘the girls are nowhere near as pretty as in London; they also lack mini skirts and it now seems odd not to see girls’ knees’. The further south we went the more people stared at Mick’s hair.


Disabled war veterans were everywhere and France seemed much more backward than Britain. ‘The toilets are very awkward and often lack wash basins. The French don’t bother about flies and only flick them away when they get near their eyes or nose,’ I wrote. But I didn’t know then that President de Gaulle had cut military spending by 40 per cent and redirected the money into a massive programme of investment which would result in France leapfrogging Britain by the end of the decade.


From the outside, houses appeared to be in terrible condition, but inside they were impeccable, as we discovered when a young man who gave us a lift took us to meet his mother-in-law. She fed us a wonderful home-cooked meal and I discovered, and immediately copied, the French habit of eating each item on the plate separately. After the meal we sucked Eau de Vie (80 per cent alcohol) from sugar cubes.


The weather and the scenery improved in the Loire valley with sandbanks on the gentle river, beautiful châteaux set in the hills and cave houses carved into the rocks. In a local café a grizzled old French communist invited us to try a glass or two of Vouvray and told us of his time in the French Resistance and what it was like to cut the throats of the Nazi occupiers and their collaborators.


We finally gave up hitch-hiking and took the cheap midnight train to Bordeaux. The train was packed and we stood for the whole journey, arriving at three in the morning. Someone gave us a lift straight to the Spanish border. We crossed over near San Sebastián. The campsite was four kilometres out of town and 300 metres up a hill, but the view was fantastic and it was dark enough for me to see the Milky Way with the naked eye for the first time in my life.
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In Madrid we stayed at a campsite which was ‘very sandy, and full of large ants and loud-mouthed Americans’. I was shocked at the oppressive presence of Franco’s armed fascist police and the sheer number of civil war veterans with missing limbs standing around selling cigarettes from small trays. ‘The people are stunned at our clothes and Mick’s hair, they seem to be about two years behind in fashion and six months in records. The girls don’t kiss except on the cheek from very close friends. They don’t understand the idea of a political opposition and have not heard the name of Russian premier Kosygin. The whole population seems to live in a walled-up world which nothing penetrates.


‘The zoo must be the worst in Europe. But delicious food, squid and onions, cold hake with bowls of sauce, veal in its own juice, cold potatoes and mayonnaise, cold omelette, fruit salad in red wine.’ My Spanish was so rudimentary that when I ordered a beer the waiter brought me a pear on a plate. ‘Madrid is full of delightful little fried-fish shops (octopus, prawn, whitebait and dozens more). The highest building is only 32 storeys. Mick loves Madrid and wants to live here permanently.’


On our way to Granada we got separate lifts and on reaching La Carolina at nine that night I could find nowhere to sleep. Mick had the tent with him, so I decided to walk twenty-five kilometres to Bailén, the next town. I didn’t know that Mick was in the tent behind a hedge five feet from where I was dropped off.


‘It was raining very lightly but after two hours I was near collapse, a vast blister covering the whole of my heel. But I got a lift from an Algerian. He wore a heavy gold bracelet, had jasmine-scented breath – most odd. He had a portable record player alternating between the Beatles and a horrible Arab dirge. Arrived in Granada two in the morning, holed up in a local garage until it stops raining at six, when the whole street became alive with bats.’


I stayed in a cheap hotel and explored the Alhambra palace with the beautiful ‘snow-capped Sierra Nevada mountains which give a glorious backdrop to the blazing white Arabic city’. Mick arrived in time to catch Françoise Hardy on TV. ‘She sang five songs all told, which is three more than I had ever seen in the UK. I just can’t understand why we never see her on British TV. She is so much better than any other girl singer.’


The wildlife was beginning to fulfil my hopes. The walls in southern Spain were covered with lizards and fat geckos. I caught one but it dropped its tail and escaped. I crawled around looking at the red and black beetles, massive grasshoppers and giant locusts but my favourite species was the red and grey hummingbird hawkmoth which fed through its two-inch-long proboscis as it hovered before flowers. The ponds of the Alhambra were filled with edible and marsh frogs. ‘Very few birds, they eat them all here and their place is taken by bats.’


Homosexuality was still illegal in Britain. We met many gays from many countries, but they had the sad quality of exiles. Mick (better-looking than me) seemed to attract them. ‘One queer American asked Mick if he’d like to wrestle in the grass,’ I wrote.


At Gibraltar we ‘arrived late at night and took beds at the Toc H youth hostel, run by an old boy of seventy-four called Jock, which was full of Yanks and Aussies (all very decent). Mick had the misfortune to take the bed with the bugs.’ With its population of 20,000 squeezed in and around narrow traffic-congested streets, Gibraltar reminded me of Brixton with sunshine. St Michael’s Cave was full of stalactites and we learned that there are thirty miles of galleries inside the rock dating back to 1799 with bizarre English names like the Great North Road. We climbed halfway up the rock to see the monkeys. One of them gave me a rabbit punch when I tried to stroke its baby.


Everything was very expensive so we went to Smokey Joe’s for our meals, which consisted of chips and grease with everything. There were no licensing laws and in one pub ‘the owner was the most extravagant queer I have ever seen and the two girls behind the bar might have been boys. When we left the owner gave Mick an extra big wave.’


The Sudanese embassy official said we could not travel through southern Sudan to Uganda because of the civil war (which continued into the twenty-first century) but three trekkers from the youth hostel said they were going across the Sahara desert on a lorry route from Colomb-Béchar in Algeria down to Niamey in Niger and then on to Ghana.


I had read about people trying to cross the Sahara and dying. In 1948 three Frenchmen tried to walk eight miles there after their car stalled and they’d all died. A decade earlier, an Englishwoman had died of thirst a few miles from In Guezzam, on the Algeria–Niger border, which she could have seen if she had climbed further up the rock on which her body was found. But an eighteen-year-old London taxi had sailed across the desert without any problems and travelling in November the temperature would be a relatively bearable mid-nineties Fahrenheit in the shade (if we could find any). Since our original plan had been scuppered, we decided to risk it.
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We left Gibraltar with Stanley Barker, an Aussie, on a ferry to Tangier. ‘We took a hotel room after much haggling. Left the light on all night to discourage the bedbugs but a few still appeared. The Casbah is very dirty, has a large traveller population of self-conscious misfits and real “don’t-cares” (they all talk about hash as though you are abnormal not to take it). One Norwegian became the third person to ask me if I was an Aussie because of my accent. The Arabs insistently offer hash or boys or girls or dancing or an illegal exchange rate.


‘Sat on the Rabat road in blazing sunshine for three hours before getting a lift from a Yank with a young Swedish girl in tow. The van was made out like a house but the weight of us caused it to expire and we had to get out at a tiny little town where we waited twenty-four hours before another lift. The walls were covered with geckos and the ground was alive with millipedes, lots of cattle egrets, lots of dead horses around. Got a lift from a Moroccan called Dadi who said that Moroccan boys were very nice. We’ve just heard that Prince Charles had broken his nose at rugby, it quite put us off our food. Mick’s got bumps like golf balls from gnats or maybe bedbugs.’


Morocco was a medieval dictatorship under King Hassan, whose security services had murdered the exiled opposition leader Mehdi Ben Barka in Paris. ‘The coins are interesting. Pre-1963 show a big-nosed, fez-wearing Hassan whereas the 1965 coins show a remarkable likeness to Kennedy.’


From Fez, we travelled to Oujda and then into Algeria. ‘The lifts come in fits and starts going 40k one day and 400 the next. The scenery in Morocco was very barren and sunny but here in Algeria it is very green and rainy. The weather broke two days ago after a long drought and everywhere is under about six inches of water. The night before last we spent an hour looking for a site to pitch the tent on the road to Algiers but the road is surrounded by orange orchards all of which have become orange ponds. I managed to fall back into a great mass of sticky mud and emerged with bi-coloured jeans. That night we had to camp on a lay-by with noisy traffic rumbling by, all in all not our best night … large number of oranges for breakfast and after shivering in the icy wind all morning we got a lift into Algiers. I had my torch stolen by one of the passengers.’ This was, I should say, the only time on our trek that anybody stole from us.


At the youth hostel we caught up with Stan and Dave, another Australian. The place was full of Australians, Americans and a host of Europeans. ‘Long, loud discussions on contraception in India lasting into the night. The travellers here all sleep with their money at the bottom of their sleeping bags. The habit is catching and we have become very distrustful. Harry, the American, asked Dave if he knew where the bathroom is. Dave’s response was I don’t know about the bathroom but the shithouse is out the back. The hostel treats everyone like kids with lights out at 10 p.m., which is odd because half the people are over forty. We went to see the botanical gardens where the ponds are full of painted frogs [Discoglossus pictus], all males, brown, grey, spotted, striped, all fat as butter and don’t swim away when we pick them up. The zoo was as bad as Madrid’s. A large jam jar with holes punched in the top and stuck down with Sellotape contained a pink horned viper. The attendant said he’d rather I put the jar down.


‘The Algerians are a good bunch and on the whole quite cheerful. Things are as expensive as in Europe and we are still waiting to reach the places where people tell us you can live on a shilling a day. A letter I sent home from Tangier cost one shilling and sixpence, the price of a cheap meal. We manage to pass ourselves off as students and get cheap meals (chicken and haricot beans) at the university. Criticism of the regime is very open and we could see only one picture of President Boumedienne and only one Vive Le President sign. There are a lot of right-wing nationalist Arabs around. One chap told us that the British were hated because there has been no action against Smith in Rhodesia but English students are good because they dislike Smith.


‘We went to the local Palestine Liberation Centre, which is full of poor deluded idealists who think that Jordan will give back their chunk of the West Bank for a Palestinian state. They believe that Kennedy was killed by the Jews because he was going to help with the liberation. I gave one of my “all men must live in peace” turns, then sat back and read the New York Times while Mick and Stan kept at it for an hour. We all parted amid handshakes and smiles.’


All I knew about the Palestinian issue was Israeli propaganda from the film Exodus. I did not know that the Palestinians had been driven off their land into refugee camps and this was my first chance to hear their story. I wasn’t persuaded of the Palestinians’ case but an image that stayed with me was of a young man telling me his father had gone back to look at the house he’d been forced to leave and as he stood outside the new Jewish owner abused him until he left.


My diary goes on: ‘One of the Aussies has just returned from Colomb-Béchar having been halfway through the Sahara. He says the French are still in control of the interior of Algeria and there’s much more traffic than he thought. The cars and lorries always stop and there are loads of little villages where people give travellers eleven days’ hospitality according to the Koran or something. All the guff about how hot it is in the day and how little water there is is way off the mark, so Mick and I are now much happier about our prospects of getting through.’ Fortunately for us we didn’t take the route via Colomb-Béchar as there were many landmines in the desert near the border, and three Brits were blown up by them soon after we left.


‘Left Algiers on 8 November and got a lift to Blida, where we picked up another lift from an old FLN member who is now chief of electricity supply in the Djelfa area. When we reached Djelfa he took us to a local carpenter’s shop where he met up with all his old comrades in the FLN guerrilla army. We sat around in a large circle with a bottle of Ricard and one glass. Each person would have the glass in turn and down it in one go. Each time the glass started a new circuit the amount of water in the Ricard would be reduced. He translated the tales the Arabs recounted of their long violent struggle against the French. As the Ricard came round with less and less water I kept making excuses to go to the loo just before it reached me. This was to no effect and I have no recollection of how we got to our hotel room. The next morning we waited until twelve o clock when he dragged us off for a couple of beers and two steaks each before setting off on the road to Laghouat.’ The café the Arab took us to had an open-plan toilet in the middle of the floor. This consisted of a hole in the ground surrounded by a metre-high wall. People were quite happy to relieve themselves while customers dined at the tables pressed against the wall. I decided to wait.


‘The driver drank bottles of beer consistently as we drove through the day and to reassure us that his drinking had no effect on his driving he stopped the van and with 100 per cent accuracy shot a succession of beer bottles out of the sky as we threw them up for him.’


At Laghouat, a large oasis with acres of date palms, he put us up in his house. His garden was filled with orange trees and huge toads (Bufo mauritanicus, to be precise). These creatures must have been here for millennia before the Sahara became so extensive, I thought, as there is no way they could have made it across the desert from oasis to oasis.


‘The next morning we soon got a lift to Ghardaïa. The rains had been very heavy and the car stalled twice in the streams that covered the roads. We camped that night – our first in real desert, but I was awoken when a large cockroach fell on my face. Then a lift in the back of a lorry down to In Salah. After El Goleh the tarmac gave out and we hit the rough old earth track. You spend the day being bounced a foot or so into the air and by the end of the day my bottom felt like a squashed tomato. That night we all climbed into the back of the lorry and I tried to sleep in an Arab cloak and found it most cold until I slept sitting up with my arms around my knees. The driver let us eat from the communal bowl of spiced soup with bread and grapes to follow. Eight of us had to share only three spoons but we didn’t dare insult the driver by refusing.


‘In Salah is very depressing due to its desolate and grubby nature. Just a few palm trees and a filthy little market with dried meats and dates all covered with swarms of flies. We camped in the shelter of a garage as there was a medium-sized sand storm for a couple of days. The heat was terrible in the day but we kept fairly warm at nights. Our presence attracted some large stag-beetles, but there was nothing else to be found in the place. The shops are all identical, they sell three kinds of jam, sardines, cheese spread and corned beef. We get bread from a baker’s which everyone crowds around at opening time and pushes and fights to get into (queues don’t exist outside of Britain).’ Because of the heat we were able to pour the corned beef from the can onto our bread. ‘You would just lie in the shade’, I wrote, ‘until evening and then go to sleep. Sometimes it was too much of an effort to talk. I write much slower and seem to be unable to apply myself to anything. It’s 4.30 and the sun is setting so the flies will go away soon.


‘After two days a couple of lorries drew up and agreed to take us all south for free (Stan was still with us). The scenery was quite depressing with huge blackened mountain gorges and endless stretches of sand. The gorges of Arak were impressive, a narrow twisting road ran alongside a small stream banked by sand and a considerable amount of greenery. The second night we camped in a flat sandy area surrounded by sharp cruel mountains in a perfect circle about seven to ten miles across. There was a small central peak which I climbed in the last rays of the sun. When I got to the top the sun had set. The whole thing was like the surface of the moon and I could have been standing in the centre of a small crater. Sometimes the mountains seemed pink or blue but it may be the high flint content which reflects the sunlight. The sand is red and sometimes the black mountains form a line between the blue sky and red sand. There were a large number of antelope droppings and hoof prints. The place was covered in snake tracks (sand viper?) and I caught a little gecko scuttling along the dunes which froze in the torchlight. It was almost translucent.’


Then my diary records: ‘On the third day I had my bad bout of diarrhoea.’ This got worse by the hour and the following morning I was passing crystal-clear green mucus laced with blood and was too weak to walk. This was clearly dysentery, which meant that for forty-eight hours, although I was drinking a lot of water, I couldn’t retain any of it. I was losing weight so rapidly that my watch band was hanging off my wrist. As we were at least a day from the next town – Tamanrasset – I didn’t think I was going to make it and lay there thinking, I’m only twenty-one and I’m going to die without having done anything worthwhile.


The lorry driver was now really worried. He bundled me into his cab and after driving for a short distance suddenly did a ninety-degree turn off the road, driving straight into the desert. Eventually we saw a barbed-wire fence stretching the length of the horizon with a door in the middle of the fence and a bell. After twenty minutes a jeep full of French legionnaires appeared. They took one look at me and led us to the French military post at In Ekker, which was a base for the French nuclear test programme. The French army doctor gave me twenty-six pills to take on day one and sixteen pills each day for three days and said we had better stay until I had recovered.


It seemed to work. ‘The two-day rest was very good and we had showers and free food and drink and a nice clean compound of houses like an old Western fort.’ The legionnaires, who I discovered earned only £3 a week, were getting ready to evacuate at the end of the year as the French were moving their nuclear test programme to the South Pacific and turning the whole area over to the Algerian government. It is a nice irony that I owe my life to the French nuclear programme.


A legionnaire gave us a lift to within a hundred kilometres of Tamanrasset and we hitched a ride in a jeep for the rest of the way. We passed through the town of Tit and found our first praying mantis, gold-flecked, along with our first scorpions – about two inches long, coloured yellow and grey-green. At Tamanrasset two young air-traffic controllers (with only two planes a week, they weren’t very busy) let us stay in their house for a few days. No one was allowed to leave the town before 23 November as President Boumedienne was due to visit and they wanted to make sure the place didn’t look too deserted. ‘As it’s cooler we spend our time sitting in the house playing cards and chess with one trip out each day to check for lorries and buy the usual bread and sardines. At night all the non-natives go to the local hotel (we don’t, as it’s expensive), nothing else happens, except for the once a week showing of Zorro in the local school.’


The big day arrived. ‘The President drove through today and everyone was tidied up for the occasion. In his wake he brought a BBC man looking very British and a Pravda reporter. The BBC man bought us about ten shillings’ worth of food, which is very helpful as we didn’t have a single Algerian coin left. The next day we went to customs and spent six hours waiting for our lorry (the customs went mad and looked in everything, even Mick’s vitamin pills). Before we left three peace corps workers from Ghana came through and gave us the USA mid-term election results.’ The Democrats had done badly with huge Republican gains. I said it was depressing that Ronald Reagan had been elected governor of California, but one of them assured me that it would be great because ‘Reagan is so reactionary that within six months he’ll create a revolutionary situation’. Unfortunately this was wildly optimistic. They advised us to get the train from Kano to Lagos. We promised to see them in Ghana.
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As we crossed the border into Niger ‘the temperature grows (hottest yet, almost unbearable between noon and 3 p.m.). We came to a vast forest of thorn trees (all flat-topped due to the wind) with just a few tiny leaves. We saw our first gazelle (a bit like a Grant’s) and a lone wolf. The water holes are listed as good but as the water was green we stuck to our own.’ The lorry driver allowed us to top up from his water supply, which was carried in whole goat skins called gherbas.


Along the way we came across ‘quite a lot of Tuaregs on their camels with huge long swords. Some of them wear brightly coloured pouches and very highly coloured turbans which have just a slit for their eyes.’


Fortunately we got to Agades before my next bout of dysentery announced its arrival with stomach cramps. Several locals helpfully carried me to the town’s ‘hospital’, where an injection worked quickly. The doctor invited us to stay in the hospital hut, which had two wooden beds. Before we lay down I flashed the torch over the cracks between the planks and discovered thousands of bedbugs lined up side by side squeezed between the planks waiting for their next meal. We slept in our tent.


‘The town centre’, I wrote, ‘has a large depression where everyone goes to defecate while vultures hop around looking for anything edible. Very large black and red wasps here … Today is Sunday and the African who is driving us to Kano tomorrow took us to see the local races which were the same as in Britain except at the last race the horses galloped off into town with the crowd following, screaming and shouting. Afterwards the driver gave us some couscous and a bit of vile cheese-flavoured, rock-hard biscuit. All the food had sand in it.


‘On the trip down to Zinder the vegetation picked up a lot and we left the desert behind. Found the largest scorpion and stone-like crickets. The savannah is pale green and dry, with low spiky trees everywhere. Saw a Patas monkey on the horizon and lots of ground rodents with long bushy tails.


‘We were twenty-five miles south of Agades when suddenly the car swerved off the road and went chasing after three adult ostriches and about twenty of their young. All the Africans jumped out to catch the young ones. I was chasing after one with an African just in front of me when the ostrich turned round and ran into my feet. As the others that had been caught were destined for the pot I insisted on keeping Horace, as we decided to call him. He is about two feet high to the top of his head and we feed him banana, tomato, oranges and bread. He walks around at the end of a rope, pecking everything in sight. When we get to Accra we hope to give him to the zoo.


‘We resumed the journey to Kano. The bloody driver of the jeep was driving too fast at night and knocked down a camel which fortunately got up and hobbled away. We pulled up at the Nigerian border and slept there until it opened. The next morning the immigration officer was very British and only gave us a five-days visa as we didn’t have much money.


‘We arrived at Kano at 9 a.m. Hot, dry, very crowded, open gutters on each side of the street, Agama lizards everywhere, females grey with yellow on head, males bright red head, red and blue tail. Small head frills. Scales very rough. They were on every wall and unbelievably fast. There were no flies in Kano. The begging is terrible, all the time, all the people.


‘We stopped at the Paradise Hotel, ten and six a night, filthy bath and bog.’ Every square inch of my body had a mosquito bite in the morning. ‘Horace slept in the corner of the room, which became very hot and shitty. De-ticked Horace and gave him a shampoo. Left him to dry on my bed but he crapped and it ran right through the mattress. Mick chewed lettuce while I held his beak open.’


We had arrived in Kano just a few weeks after the massacre of every Ibo man, woman and child by the Hausa majority and there were still bloodstains all over the walls and pavements. ‘We met some Brits behind the counter at Barclays who told us that on the night of the killings they didn’t see anything. The next morning things were bad (one whole trainload of Ibos were made to get off and all were hacked to bits). The result was chaos and the trains were held hostage by Eastern Region, which means now there is only one train a week instead of one a day. The Ibo blame and hate Britain for it all as the Hausas love Britain and the British government kept supporting the undemocratic regime.


‘We had to pay £2.18 shillings for the train to Lagos. The ticket man called us to the front of the queue to give us tickets. We also had to keep answering the question why, as white people, we were travelling third class. The next morning we set off with Horace in a towel. The platform was crowded and we had to fight for a place after a panic caused by the train leaving too soon.’ I remember that we had loaded up with bread and bananas as the journey would take over twenty-four hours. Every single square foot of the train was occupied, with people sitting on the roof and hanging on at the end of each car. The only way we could get in and out of the carriage if we wanted a pee was by stepping from armrest to armrest and then hanging off the end of the carriage. At one point while I was relieving myself, the train suddenly emerged from the jungle into a field filled with women who collapsed laughing at the sight of me hanging off the back of the train peeing into the air.


Most of the people getting on were Yorubas, who were terrified that if they didn’t get out of Kano quickly they would be the next ethnic minority to be massacred. The mood on the train was incredibly tense until we passed out of the Hausa-dominated north.


Horace had the capacity to produce as much guano as the entire bird population of Trafalgar Square, so by the time we went to sleep our little corner of the train was pretty disgusting. I was woken up in the night as we pulled into a station. The man opposite had kicked off his sandals, which was unfortunate, as that was the spot where Horace had decided to relieve himself and the man didn’t have time to clean up before he slipped them back on and got off the train.
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We had read the old official English colonial guide to Lagos, at the time a city of just 364,000 people (today there are nearly eight million), which warned us: ‘Dress for Europeans by day consists of long trousers, white shirt and long sleeves, a tie and a head covering. On official occasions a jacket or dinner suit is worn.’ It also warned us that ‘Lagos does not offer any tourist attractions which would make a trip to the outlying country worthwhile’.


My diary notes that ‘the train arrived at Lagos at 4.30 p.m. the next day and we got a bus to the beach where we pitched our tent. Horace caused a big stir.’ The beach was occupied by two local religious prophets (one had a monkey on his shoulder) who conducted services with their attendant nuns intermittently through the day and night. To our amazement the American Harry appeared and invited us to camp with his friends Stewart and Alan, who had parked their little French 2CV along the beach. ‘Horace promptly crapped on Harry’s groundsheet. Everywhere in Africa the whites discuss bowel movements. Lizards scuttled around the holy men’s compound. Transparent pink crabs come out in their thousands. Swimming all the time but at night algae emitting blue light cling to your body.’ One evening I decided to go for a swim after everyone had gone to sleep, so I was naked. One of the religious leaders came down to the beach with all his white-clad nuns and was obviously waiting for me to finish swimming before they began their ceremony. I kept swimming in the hope they would go away but in the end I couldn’t do anything except emerge and walk past them in acute embarrassment.


When I tell people we spent a week on a Lagos beach leaving our possessions in the tent as we explored the city, returning to find nothing had been touched, they can’t believe it. But what was striking about Africa then was the optimism and confidence people had in the future. Mick and I never felt threatened or at risk: everywhere people were welcoming and incredibly hospitable.


I wrote home to my parents: ‘There are some relatives of people at the Chester Beatty we will stay with while we potter around in Ghana. Then we hope to get a job for about three months and get the boat back home (for about £49 on a passenger boat, third class, it might be cheaper on a cargo boat if we can find one). I didn’t write from Kano because things are not yet back to normal after the killings two months ago. On the Sahara crossing Mick and I did nothing but talk about what we were going to eat when we get home: fishcakes, rissoles, fish and chips, chicken, shepherd’s pie, bubble and squeak and a vast Chinese meal. Out here we eat bread and tinned sardines or corned beef, cooked yam, lots of oranges and endless banana sandwiches. We sold Horace yesterday to a children’s school (they could only afford thirty shillings but as it’s a good home we didn’t mind). I would have liked to bring him home but I don’t think we could ever have house-trained him and the export licence for animals is pretty steep. We have just got our visas so we hope to leave for Ghana tomorrow. I’ve got some addresses and with a bit of luck we will be able to sponge over Christmas.’


Mum replied, ‘We were pleased to hear you found a good home for Horace. Linda was hoping you would bring him home with you, can you imagine what the dogs would be like and what about the garden?’ Dad added, ‘I suppose you are quite up to date with all the recent events in Rhodesia. It’s been quite exciting politically. Harold has had a field day in the news during the crisis … I rather envy you at the moment. Mum and I are both quite proud of what you have achieved so far. Hope you manage a decent job together … lots of love from everyone and a special true blue greeting from Dad.’


Alan Gough, a friend from work, wrote, ‘The Rhodesia crisis as you probably heard is now at a head … your findings of how the coloured people are treated by the white gods out there I have found invaluable only this morning, to quote you in a very heated argument on the present crisis. It never fails to surprise me how at times like these some of one’s closest acquaintances turn out to be shit houses. You will be interested to hear, and I might add also delighted, in the past few months I have become a confirmed atheist, surprised? I spent many hours on reading the work from the Dead Sea Scrolls and have visited the Masada exhibition that is now in London. So that’s one up to you. Eh?’


My diary continues: ‘The next morning we left for the lorry park at the railway. After a two-hour wait we piled in the back of a flatbed truck with several mothers and carsick children. The road to the border was red with dust with low forest and palm trees. We passed small villages made of corrugated iron and mud.’ We were driving along the coast road passing from Nigeria through Dahomey and into Togo. ‘The land became more sandy, more palm trees appeared and we saw a long procession of drum-beating villagers at a fishing village in which the huts were on stilts in the sea water cut off from the beach. At Lomé we slept on a filthy beach with pigs and sand crabs, one of which got in my sleeping bag.


‘The beaches in Ghana are more like the south seas with long log fishing boats and crashing blue seas only marred by the continual stops for police checks.’ This was eighteen months after the military coup overthrew President Nkrumah and I wrote home that ‘things here are rather wobbly at the moment, the old government (all one man of it) left the economy in a terrible state and as a result the prices are the worst we have seen since we have left England, we don’t do bad though and we live off pressed pork from communist China at two shillings and ninepence for a big tin. At night we wander around the markets and buy a bellyful of yam and banana. We are staying in a peace corps hostel which only costs four shillings a night and is the best place since home – real baths, toilets and very clean. The only drawback is the enormous cockroach that emerges from under the bath and scuttles around the floor until you get out of the bath and then dives back under it. We are going to go upcountry for a couple of weeks to see the old, untouched forests. When we get back to Accra we will try and get home unless we get some work, which is highly unlikely as the government likes to restrict the number of whites employed here as they might be accused of being imperialist lackeys by Mali. Also whites send all their money home which causes an economic crisis. All the people here are very friendly though (one Ghanaian rushed out of a bar and gave me a pint of beer as I was English and then spent an hour telling me how he hates the Russians as they ruined his country).


‘The hostel is set on a hill behind an embassy with Agama lizards everywhere. In Lagos my attire of jeans and T-shirt provoked horror among the white swine and some natives, just not on. It’s odd for the local people to be exposed to the open shirts we were wearing as they don’t normally see them on whites, and the whites don’t usually mix with locals. The locals find our navels funny (one yamseller reached across and stuck her finger in mine to see if it was real). There was a terrible gap between black and white in Lagos, neither side knows the other. At the High Commission in Lagos I told a British official we were planning to go into the jungle, he replied, “You realise that you would be travelling with Ghanaians, don’t you?” The people in Ghana don’t beg very much but they are still friendly with exchanging addresses.


‘Yesterday we hitched out to the Volta dam but didn’t get there as an Indian from Kaisers, the big steel firm, picked us up and took us to his gliding club. He gave us a huge meal in the flat which used to belong to Hanna Reitsch [Hitler’s female pilot] until Nkrumah was thrown out when she fled to Germany. She was very close to Hitler in the war and flew the first manned doodlebug. That flat was like a palace. After coffee Mick went up in a glider but before I could go up a terrible storm came and Mick had to come down pretty quick. One parked plane was torn off the runway and smashed to bits so I guess I was quite lucky not to be up at the time.


‘We went to Aburi botanical gardens. On the trip we saw the fantastic view from the escarpment and Nkrumah’s palace. Mick kicked over a pile of logs to reveal a black snake but by the time I caught up with him it had slithered away. Saw our first soldier ants. The undergrowth alive with insects with frogs living in the shade of rotting palm tree segments. One huge tree is the sole remnant of the original rain forest.


‘Bad planning in Ghana is almost beyond belief. China factory without a clay supply, sugar cane factory without water, bottle factory running with vast inefficiency causing overpricing, tarmaced roads to the villages in which Nkrumah’s relatives lived.


‘Met Ron from Enchi and Jeff [the peace corps workers we met in the desert]. They drove along to Saltpond past the small Arab slave forts and the amazing beaches with fishing boats. Stopped at Jeff’s bungalow. Club Beer is vile. That night I wandered round the bungalow with a dim hurricane lamp until I caught a toad. Inebriation gave the toad the advantage.’


We stopped in Tarkwa, where we ended up in conversation with two local girls outside a bar one evening. They complained about the English ‘come-on’. One said it’s almost a dormant, slow approach, followed by an all-of-a-sudden ‘bang’. ‘“Are they joking? I’m never sure,” said one girl. “How did the English ever propagate!” the other asked. We explained to them about the grim side of the Englishman’s approach to sex and the vulgar, unsophisticated approach of the US male.


‘We left Accra on the twentieth and went with some peace corps geologists to Enchi (population 150) which is miles into the jungle. On the way up we saw a black cobra and ran over another brown, yellow and red snake which didn’t get off the road in time. At Enchi we went off into the jungle with a geological gold survey group and two guides (it took four hours to move three miles) and saw the most unbelievable number of butterflies of every colour, shape and size, centipedes, millipedes, tarantulas, land crabs, small lizards and three frogs in a gold panning pit. Mick bought a squirrel. We called him Hubert. He eats oranges and bananas. He was in very bad condition at first but after twenty-four hours’ sleep and some food he is beginning to look respectable. He has a black and brown peppered coat and a ringed tail.


‘Enchi is very small but has a large bar-cum-dancehall open to the air. Everyone is dancing “highlife” [a slow, suggestive shuffle]. The four of us would sit in the corner and Ron would get his manservant to find his girlfriend and arrange to meet secretly so as to protect her from being overcharged by the shopkeepers if they know she is sleeping with a white man. The second night at the bar Ron’s girlfriend came and sat down and I thought she wanted to sleep with me but she was only making suggestive Nigerian dance signs. Back at Ron’s caravan we all had our photo taken while she kept rubbing Mick’s arm (Mick was most disturbed).


‘Mick and I slept in the tent outside the caravan but first I had to evict three toads and one skink which were living under my pillow. We slept under mosquito nets for the first time. At night the air is full of glow worms. In the morning the mist is so dense it hides even the nearest fields. That day Alan and two bushmen took us into the deep bush a half-hour’s drive on the logging roads, and then straight off into the bush, which was dark, damp and muddy. A green trail at first giving way to a stream of muddy water. We were taking rock chippings everywhere to test for gold. We only went two and a half miles but it seemed like ten. I was unsuccessful in my attempt to lure a frog by imitating its call. On the way out of the bush one of the bushmen pushed me to one side and slashed down with his machete to cut the head off a venomous puff adder. It was perfectly camouflaged, so I was about to tread on it. He wrapped it up in a large bandana and carried it on his head while it still writhed. We had it for dinner, it tasted a bit like chicken. We passed three hunters who called Mick “madam” as they assumed he was my wife.


‘We came to a small village with a central tree about forty feet high, full of nests which were round bundles of twigs with the entrance underneath. The birds were brilliant yellow with black heads and tails. The back was brownish yellow. Finches? The whole tree was alive with them (at least sixty nests) twittering and chirping. The village chief has protected them. At Samreboi there is a plywood plant and a large British community (all drinking) plus reports of a huge frog. Huge spreading trees with some branches having fallen to the ground and rotted. There is nothing but these for a long stretch and it is completely sunless inside the jungle.


‘We spent Christmas at Asankrangwa with the Salzmans, a young American couple who gave us vast amounts of food (though I did have to decapitate the Christmas chicken for them) and the local native palm wine which tastes good provided it is drunk down in one gulp. We told the Salzmans about our home life and British inefficiency. Then a long conversation about how the peace corps wants its volunteers to mingle with the community and why this doesn’t occur.


‘The rain forest is all around now, huge spreading trees with lots of weaver birds nesting in them. We also found singing termites, a big mob of them get on a dried leaf and jump up and down in time causing an audible noise yards away. This was happening everywhere in the jungle and there may be a connection with the driver ants as they seem to be out in force with the soldier ants sitting upright with pincers in the air forming a double line through which the workers storm at a fair old pace.


‘On Boxing Day we went into the jungle on our own and got lost and ended up walking over a tree bridge following one of the palm wine trails (each morning the natives tap the palm trees to get the sap, which is neat palm wine).


‘After Christmas we set off to Kumasi at five in the morning and reached [peace corps worker] Ollie Olson’s house at 11 a.m. The road up to his house was lined with vast plantations of cocoa and we slept and read until Ollie and Will Reiser [another peace corps worker] arrived at 8 p.m. I was traumatised when I accidentally killed two geckos I hadn’t seen in the door hinges. The next morning we all piled into a jeep and drove forty miles west to Adobewora. The road was pretty bad and by the end was two wheel tracks with a two-foot gully running down the middle. The camp was in a clearing with a caravan and four tents. Sand flies started on Mick the moment we arrived. That night we had yam chips and a spinach substitute made from the middle leaf of the cocoa plant. We had the usual good rows with a right-winger called Michael James on Vietnam and Bobby Kennedy. I found a vast caterpillar with a nasty line in venomous spines and another one encased in spun silk with bits of wood and leaf attached a bit like the British caddis fly larva. One night in the caravan a large mantis flew onto my leg. We put it in a large jar and fed it a grasshopper which it ate bit by bit, licking each leg clean and then discarding it with a disdainful flick of its wrist. The next night we went out with Paul [another peace corps worker] and his carbide lamp after a short, sharp downpour, to look for a tree bear (hyrax, a guinea-pig-size relative of the elephant) which makes a howling screech which builds up into a frenzy lasting a full minute which is usually answered by another or one of the huge flying squirrels which glide from tree to tree or a bush baby which makes a hideous shriek. We wandered into a cocoa plantation when the lamp gave out. This was just as a bush baby started to call so we couldn’t find it.


‘We left Adobewora to return to Kumasi for New Year. A cowherd had left his cattle in the front garden of Ollie’s house. Ollie had a vast New Year’s Eve meal in preparation and lots of beer to consume. Mr Boateng, his friend Charles [relatives of my friends at Chester Beatty] and three other Ghanaians as well as Ollie’s ‘wife’ all went round the market to buy cassava for the party. The party revealed the intense right-wing attitude of the Ghanaians who had contempt for anyone less lucky than themselves. But we spent a pleasant evening listening to ‘Harbour Lights’ and reading Bertrand Russell’s Why I Am not a Christian. The next morning Ollie took me to the cultural centre to see the drums, gold ornaments, Ashanti stools and carvings. Later I went to meet my work colleague Jacob’s uncle. After a beer he took me to meet Jacob’s mum and then on to his chicken farm. He drove very slowly as he was plastered, but he took me to his house where we had some Martell brandy.’




*





I received a letter from George Boyce, the pet-shop owner:




I was sorry to hear about your unwelcome enteric condition during your trip across the Sahara and your equally nauseating experience at the Peace Corps party. The latter intestinal upset was, as you suspected, no doubt caused by the native beer, although I would suggest not so much by the beer but by the amount of local saliva that is expectorated into the beer to encourage this revolting mixture to ‘work’. Well Ken, to be serious for a while, has the effort been worthwhile. You have certainly covered a vast area of Africa at a nominal cost, experienced the ‘seamier’ side of life and encountered illness without the benefit of a national health service. I imagine that experiences such as these must have the effect of helping to mature ones outlook. All the ‘lads’ and ‘lasses’ at the shop have asked me to convey to you their best wishes for your continued success in the termination of your journey. To these felicitations, Ken, I would add those of my own and of course Doris. Yours as ever, George.





My diary continued: ‘Returned to Accra and the peace corps hostel where a young Ghanaian wanted to know if I was a Russian spy and if I was really English why didn’t I have a big nose. His brother had just arrived in Brixton and didn’t seem to like it, but we then discussed freedom and I spent an hour assuring him that many people at home think like I do. As he left he clasped my hand and said, “You are a plain man, you carry your heart in your hand.”


‘We went to visit another of Jacob’s relatives, Mr Adjety, who showed us round his furniture factory. He took us to meet his friends, the director of the state farming corporation, the secretary general of the TUC and the ex-minister of agriculture. The meal was foufou, which tastes of potato with the texture of chewing gum, and rabbit in hot peppers followed by much beer and a long conversation on the Nigerian problem and sex in Kumasi.


‘We were invited to the Deputy British High Commissioner’s house and he and his wife were a marvellous and unpretentious couple with lots of kids. After dinner the kids went off to play football while I stayed to talk politics and play a little golf. The oldest daughter Dawn drove nine of us in a Mini to a party of self-conscious teenagers, playing the Beatles’ ‘Tomorrow Never Knows’. Mick takes an unnecessarily harsh attitude to the white kids out here when really they aren’t to blame for being so cut off from the average man.


‘Went out to a small village eight miles past Aburi at the invitation of the local chief. The chief’s secretary had sent out the wrong date however and we just sat and discussed the price of cocoa for half an hour and left (Mick made his intentions to the chief’s daughter embarrassingly clear!). The next day I checked the shipping lines and spent the rest of the day in the library while Mick ran aground on his plans for the chief’s daughter. On Tuesday we left for Saltpond and got in about noon and went down to the beach straightaway. An endless line of coconut palms stretching off into the mist and a beautiful blue sky and sea with great white cresting waves pounding in. Lots of shells and urchins, puffer fish, moray eel and turtle. That evening went to sleep after a nice chat on foreign policy.


‘On the way back to Accra in Castle Road was a very large pond swarming with dragonflies of red and blue, a bird of unimaginable blue swooped over the pond and back, a large black bullhead-like fish sat looking up at me. Everywhere large frogs, possibly Occipitalis.


‘Next day we went to Tema harbour very early and checked all the ships, even Russian ones, for a passage home. All negative. We were guided round the docks by an ex-Liverpool barber who insisted he could give Mick a fine haircut. On Saturday we were surfing again and then down to the town. In one bar a Negro said he was happy to talk to white men as white people don’t go to the Negro bars. In another we listened to music from the VC10 band, the Balingo dance was a seduction one which leaves nothing to the imagination and caused one old dear to drag her youthful partner out of the dance. There was a huge roar of approval from the crowd. One Englishman said, “I must admit I’m rather embarrassed at being in an African bar.”’




*





We never found a ship, as all the berths were booked months in advance, so we went home the way we came, across the desert. Everyone in the hostel warned us to leave soon as there was about to be an army coup in Togo and the border would close. We said our goodbyes, exchanged addresses, told everyone to visit if they came to London and set off just as the Harmattan began. This is the cold, dry wind that sweeps cruelly across the desert. The nearest West Africa gets to a winter. Suddenly the sea water is cold and the waves are stronger.


My record of our return journey is fairly brief. ‘The bridge over the Volta had been completed so no more ferry crossings were needed. The guy who gave us a lift in his jeep ran into a buzzard which we thought was dead so we stuck it in the back with us to eat later but alarmingly it suddenly woke up and with a large, sharp beak, started taking lumps out of everything within reach so we let it go. Walked through Lomé the next morning and reached the Dahomey border at midday and got a lift to Cotonou in an old mammy wagon which broke down three times before it got to Porto-Novo, the capital. After trying at youth hostel went in search of an English teacher called Dave Mills. His headmaster, very nice, drove us to his place. Long discussion about the rights and wrongs of giving Africa a European culture.


‘We got to Lagos and booked the train to Kano, this time the journey took forty-six hours as the train broke down and had to be repaired. Very few lizards now in Kano given that it’s cold and dry. Streets are full of dust, your nose cakes up, lips crack and you need glasses to keep dust out of your eyes. Street sellers make huge omelettes, two feet across, filled with vegetables. You just buy as much as you want.’


We arrived in Niger and looked up our peace corps contacts Jack Little and Victoria Soucer. ‘They have to really rough it: no lights, mud huts for girls, grass huts for men, lots of diarrhoea and dysentery. Victoria is working on the social status of women and Jack is trying to improve the peanut crop. After coffee at Jack’s two Frenchmen invited us round to their place where a party was in progress with roast lamb which ran with blood in the French tradition and Scotch. After the party we went round to the house of a local French peanut factory owner (who hated Negroes). Jack did not see any hope for Niger except as a cattle producing country but the Hausas consider it beneath them to herd cattle. He doesn’t have a high regard for the French way of independence. He thinks there is a love/hate relationship between the French and the African civil servants, who are going to take over when and if the French ever go. He saw the French owner of the peanut farm kick his manservant. After blaming the Cold War on Truman I crawled into bed about 2 a.m. Next morning at 6 a.m. after coffee, peanuts, dysentery and a Terramycin tablet we went with Vicky and her friends to Zinder.


‘As we continued north we saw several large monitor lizards, two or three foot long. We walked out of Zinder past the main water supply, a small lake filled with African lilies and two dead donkeys. Camped at the roadside for the night near three dead cattle and lots of bones. Wind is now stronger and quite cool and very dry. The next day we got a lift on a lorry with thirty-five other people which stopped every ten miles for emergency check. After a day without food in freezing wind and chasing another ostrich we arrived at Agades. The change in the place is stunning. Everything is dry and sandy. All the plants have gone. We got on a lorry going all the way to El Goleh. We passed a vast number of cars (seven) of people going south, mainly Aussies, Swiss and Germans. We got stuck in the sand quite a lot. One of the goats on the lorry died and the driver cut it up and gave us a leg.


‘We carried on north until just outside Arak we came across the memorial to the Arabs who died fighting the French in Algeria. It’s just a few stones but with an amazing mountain backdrop and a green flag on top. Every lorry circles it twice as their way of showing respect and the ground is now worn smooth.


‘We arrived in Algiers and went back to the hostel to discover that the toilet still hadn’t been cleaned. The next morning we booked up to go steerage in the hold for £7 each on the boat to Marseilles. I went back to the botanical gardens and collected some of the painted frogs to take home [where they lived happily in my garden pond]. They were still the same specimens in the same gullies that we had seen in November. The boat left at seven in the evening and took twenty-three hours to cross in terrible seas that seemed to be rising and falling so violently that we had to lie flat to stop being seasick. We were in the prow of the boat which was very crowded with Algerians who had had too much to drink. Fortunately we slept on the hatch cover so we were above the vomit.


‘From Marseilles we got the train to London via Paris for 166 francs, which left us with just 20 francs in total. We didn’t hang around as we both wanted to get home as soon as we could and had run out of money. Northern France was ice-bound, and the Channel was cold and beautiful and I felt quite emotional as the cliffs of Dover came into view.’


Customs viewed us with suspicion and asked if we had ever tried hash. They searched through everything and were surprised to discover our collection of desert rocks and frogs.


We took the train to Victoria and I arrived home at 3.30 on a cold February afternoon in time for tea. Everyone said how well I looked, but I felt very tired. The dogs barked briefly and then ignored me.
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Years of Upheaval





1967–1971





Africa changed me. What struck me in those very different cultures was what I had in common with them. And the Westerners I had met were graduates, but I held my own in our debates about politics and life. The nerdy English boy with no expectations except a pension now wanted something else, but I had no idea what it might be.


Just after my return from Africa Chester Beatty Research opened a unit in Sutton with the aim of finding a cure for childhood leukaemia. I was really excited when Alan Gough, head of the animal unit, took me back as his deputy. This was my first position of responsibility and it was a job I believed in. At the time, a diagnosis of leukaemia in a child was a death sentence. Researchers were divided into rival camps. One believed the cure lay in conventional chemo and radiotherapy, but our unit believed in stimulating the immune system to defeat the cancer. We took the cancerous white blood cells of children and injected them into sheep whose immune systems killed the cells. Then we took sheep antibodies, injecting them into the child to attack the cancer. The improving techniques triggered longer and longer remissions.


Each day in the main hospital I passed angelic children all doomed to die unless we found a cure. Seeing the children, I knew we were justified in experimenting on animals if it saved their lives and I got angry when people said the life of a rat was as important as that of a human. Eventually chemo and radiotherapy did prove to be better, and anti-vivisectionists might argue that our work was wasted, but along the way we developed our understanding of the human immune system and so helped discover treatments for other diseases.


Late one Friday a doctor rushed into our unit claiming he had found the virus that causes leukaemia, but we had been handling that virus for months, sucking up body fluids containing the virus from the mice we experimented on through small pipettes. All of us had got a mouthful at one point or another, so after a worrying weekend we were much relieved when he admitted he was wrong.
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During my travels I couldn’t believe how little of the original West African rain forest remained and how seldom on our journey we had seen anything much more exotic than a rat, so instead of keeping amphibians as pets I decided to try breeding them in captivity in case they became extinct in the wild. I was the first person to breed the frog Hymenochirus curtipes, a central African dwarf frog, in captivity after the Natural History Museum gave me a pair. They were completely aquatic and by chance I did not have an aerator bubbling away in the tank when they mated. The male grabs the female from behind and they swim upside down, scattering sperm and eggs which hang by microscopic threads from the surface film. They need still water to breed, so had an aerator been in the tank the eggs would have sunk to the bottom and died.


I first got in touch with the Natural History Museum as a schoolboy when I discovered twenty-four albino frog tadpoles in a local garden. Only a handful had ever been found before so I had visions of breeding them and making a bit of money. But they all died in the bitter winter of 1962–3. The preserved frogs I’d brought home from Algiers went into the museum’s collection.


Professor George W. Nace at the University of Michigan at Ann Arbor was establishing a frog bank so with each breeding success I dispatched a packet of live amphibians to America. Nace asked if I would like to work in his unit but I had fallen in love and wanted to marry, though by the time she turned down my proposal I had given up frogs for politics. Mum was so worried I would never marry that she taught me how to cook.




*





Nineteen sixty-eight was arguably the most dramatic year in Western politics since the Second World War; it certainly changed my life for ever. By 1967 I had become disillusioned with Wilson for his spinelessness against the white racists in Rhodesia and for failing to devalue the pound and protect jobs in British industry, but this was nothing compared to my growing anger at the US aggression in Vietnam. In 1945, after the Japanese wartime occupation ended, the communist leader Ho Chi Minh set up an independent republic in what was then French Indo-China and asked for American support. Instead the US and Britain restored French colonial rule. After eight years of war the French were defeated at the battle of Dien Bien Phu but the US thwarted Ho’s victory by threatening to use nuclear weapons unless Vietnam was split between a communist north and a US puppet state in the south. The people the US supported were a small Vietnamese Catholic elite who had collaborated with the Japanese occupation. The cynicism of the US has never been more clearly expressed than in President Eisenhower’s autobiography Mandate for Change, which was published in 1963: ‘I have never talked or corresponded with a person knowledgeable in Indo-Chinese affairs who did not agree that had elections been held as of the time of the fighting possibly 80 per cent of the population would have voted for the Communist Ho Chi Minh as their leader rather than Chief of State Bao Dai.’


The 1954 peace deal brokered by Russia and Britain promised a free cross-border vote on reunification in 1958 which would determine the future of the whole of Vietnam. The US backed the Southern regime in refusing to allow that vote, so Ho Chi Minh started fighting the corrupt and brutal President Diem. Buddhist monks protested by burning themselves to death. The lack of support for Diem’s regime led President Kennedy to authorise an army coup against it, and the Diem brothers were executed in 1963 by the colonels who took over. The military regime in South Vietnam only survived because it was propped up by the US. President Johnson refused to accept that Ho Chi Minh was the popular choice to lead the country so the US rained death on its people north and south of the border, bombing and shooting civilians in vast numbers. Many US troops slipped into drug addiction and committed atrocities against innocent civilians. The news media reported what was going on, and support for the war in the US declined while the world watched in horror as images of napalmed women and children and destroyed villages appeared nightly on television.


My views on foreign policy were crystallised by the book From Yalta to Vietnam by David Horowitz, which appeared as a Pelican in 1967 and demonstrated the lengths to which the US would go to overthrow governments to secure economic advantage. The US propped up brutal dictatorships as long as they could siphon off wealth or use land for military bases while claiming to defend democracy from communism. This book did more than any other since Nineteen Eighty-Four to make me a socialist. Ironically, the author became a rabid neoconservative in the 1980s and today runs a project that accuses left-wing academics in the US of supporting Islamic terrorism.


By 1968 I had decided to join the Labour party, but changed my mind when Home Secretary James Callaghan, a man devoid of any liberal instincts, pushed a bill through Parliament denying Kenya’s Asian population entry to Britain. When Duncan Sandys had negotiated independence for Kenya earlier in the decade he had given Kenya’s Asian minority British passports in case they were ever discriminated against. As Kenya began denying their economic and civil rights Sandys, ratting on his promise, demanded we rescind their right to come to Britain. With the Mail and the Express whipping up hysteria Wilson capitulated for fear of alienating voters. TV commentator Brian Walden, who had been Callaghan’s parliamentary private secretary at the time, told me that as Callaghan saw him going into the No lobby in the House of Commons he said, ‘If you go through that door your political career is finished’ – as indeed it was. There were thirty-five Labour rebels: a mixture of left-wingers like Michael Foot and honest right-wingers who abhorred racism (Roy Jenkins found a reason to be absent). I was so disgusted I put off joining the Labour party and in Labour’s leadership election in 1976 I supported Michael Foot rather than Tony Benn because Benn had voted for Callaghan’s bill.


Meanwhile the drama continued to unfold in Vietnam. On 30 January 1968 Viet Cong guerrillas overran the main South Vietnamese cities and occupied the grounds of the American embassy in Saigon. Although driven back by US troops, their courage and sacrifice exposed the lie that Ho Chi Minh had no support in the south. The respected US television newscaster Walter Cronkite’s reports demolished the claims of Johnson that the US was merely defending an independent country from a communist invasion. The Vietnamese were fighting for independence just as Americans had done in 1776 against King George III.


The US General Westmoreland (who insisted that Vietnamese didn’t value human life as we do) demanded another 206,000 troops to add to the half a million already losing the war. The response of US voters was far less belligerent and Johnson won the Democratic primary in New Hampshire with just 49 per cent while the anti-war Senator Eugene McCarthy got 42 per cent. Then Senator Robert Kennedy announced that he would run for the Democratic nomination. Faced with losing to the man he most loathed, Johnson announced his retirement.


The left didn’t trust Robert Kennedy, who had been a right-winger in his twenties and early thirties. His decision to run only after Johnson had been weakened by McCarthy confirmed suspicions that he was driven purely by ambition. I disagreed. As Attorney General in his brother’s government he had been changed by the civil rights struggle, and after his brother’s assassination he took up the cause of America’s poorest citizens, both black and white. McCarthy was too cool and intellectual to connect with ordinary people. The American feminist Gloria Steinem knew she was right to support Kennedy when she watched McCarthy ruffle a small black boy’s hair and then wipe his hand on his trousers. She was reminded of the cold, pinched-faced banker who denied her father a loan. With Robert Kennedy in the race I felt there was a chance a president could be elected who would change the world. It would be forty years before I felt that way about a US candidate again.


For young people the prospect of electing Kennedy was too far off to wait for and demonstrations against the war filled the streets in cities around the world. Chanting ‘London, Paris, Rome, Berlin, we will fight and we will win’, students staged public protests and occupied their campuses – most dramatically in France, where they were marching against both the war and the autocratic General de Gaulle. And the young marched against racism in the US and South Africa. This generation, raised with the sound of their own music, began to experiment with sex and drugs even though they still risked expulsion if the opposite sex stayed overnight in halls of residence.


In Britain, radical youth alienated by Wilson turned to activists like Tariq Ali and his magazine Black Dwarf, which denounced both the Soviet Union and the US. Tariq was also the public face of the International Marxist Group (IMG), but its marches and occupations were insignificant compared with the upheaval in France, where the student protests were transformed when the communistled trade unions called a general strike. Paris and other French cities were brought to a standstill, with brutal conflicts between police and protesters. De Gaulle flew to meet French generals and get their backing to break the protests, and mobilised the conservative French countryside against the left.


The protests collapsed and there was a swing to the right in a snap general election but attention had already shifted to what was happening behind the Iron Curtain. In Czechoslovakia the communist reformer Alexander Dubček came to power committed to humanise and democratise the communist system. Having already rolled back Khrushchev’s de-Stalinisation programme, Brezhnev and the Soviet leadership were terrified that reform might threaten them and began to issue veiled threats. Student demands for reform in Poland were brutally crushed.


In America the establishment feared the Reverend Martin Luther King’s campaign against racial discrimination, which was also beginning to tackle issues of class and the war in Vietnam. These movements coming together threatened change on a scale unseen since President Roosevelt’s New Deal. The FBI under J. Edgar Hoover was obsessed with King and black radicalism. If King’s murder by James Earl Ray on 4 April 1968 was part of a conspiracy it remains unproven, but I believe it was the threat he posed to the powerful that led to his death.


The ghettos erupted in anger at the assassination of their best hope and greatest leader. In 1968 most police forces were white and racist and horrific indiscriminate shootings by the police followed King’s death. In the heart of the black ghetto in Indianapolis Robert Kennedy made a powerful plea for unity between black and white. Kennedy was the only politician capable of bridging the racial divide in America, which was reflected among his supporters, the white working class and poor blacks who won him the California primary on 5 June. Just after midnight, shortly before he went to thank his followers, he took a call from Mayor Daley of Chicago pledging his support at the Democratic convention. As Daley was the crucial power broker in US politics, this was the turning point which would have taken Kennedy to the White House but the extremist paranoia that led to the death of Martin Luther King was about to claim its second high-profile victim as Kennedy was shot three times by Sirhan Sirhan, a Palestinian Christian incensed at the support America had shown for Israel during the recent Six-Day War. In the space of two months the hope of change in America had been extinguished for a generation.


President Johnson had agreed to peace negotiations with the Vietnamese but just as he was under maximum pressure to end the war he was let off the hook by the decision of the Soviet Union to invade Czechoslovakia and brutally snuff out Dubček’s attempt to create ‘Socialism with a human face’. While a quarter of a million Russian and other Soviet bloc troops marched into Prague, Chicago was convulsed by violence as peace campaigners besieged the Democratic convention. Vice-president Hubert Humphrey defeated Eugene McCarthy for the nomination, but he was a poor campaigner and Republican Richard Nixon squeaked into the White House. The powers that be relaxed, after a worrying year, confident that it would be a long time before any force arose to challenge them. The peace negotiations in Vietnam dragged on for four more years, allowing President Thieu to continue looting Vietnam until he finally loaded his plane with gold and fled to the UK, where he lived the rest of his life in luxury in Surrey.
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Throughout this year I was an observer glued to the TV, hoping that a new politics would be born. I got involved only once, one evening when I joined an anti-war march down Charing Cross Road, but by the end of the year I could see that all the challenges to the status quo had been defeated both at home and abroad. In order to achieve change I knew I had to join the system and change it from within. Challenges from outside the establishment had more chance of success if there were sympathetic people working on the inside for the same goals. I agreed with Daniel Cohn-Bendit, a leader of the French student protests, when he said, ‘We must begin the long march through the institutions.’ He later became a Euro MP for the German Green party.


Race became a bigger issue in the UK when Tory MP Enoch Powell’s ‘rivers of blood’ speech, arguing against immigration, triggered racist attacks in London. Black bus conductors and others were verbally and physically abused. But Labour’s position on race was not much better. London Labour MP Bob Mellish actually complained of immigrants ‘pouring off the banana boats’. In a cabinet subcommittee meeting Richard Crossman recorded: ‘Ever since the Smethwick election [where local Tories won the seat from Labour at the 1964 election with the campaign slogan ‘If you want a nigger for a neighbour, vote Labour’] it had been quite clear that immigration can be the greatest potential vote loser for the Labour party if we are seen to be permitting a flood of immigrants to come in and blight the central areas of all our cities.’ The biographer of Labour minister George Thomas quotes Home Secretary Frank Soskice warning that ‘if we do not have strict immigration rules our people will soon all be coffee-coloured’. Our Labour party was not unique. Australian Labor party leader Arthur Calwell supported Australia’s ‘whites only’ immigration laws with the slogan ‘Two Wongs don’t make a white’.


My local MP John Fraser, it has to be said, defended the black community in Brixton although this lost Labour some voters in highly marginal Norwood. A local party member objected to the song ‘Young, Gifted and Black’, saying, ‘If they want to be integrated they shouldn’t go on about how good it is to be black.’ John’s Tory opponent wanted to ban all immigration, repatriate blacks to the West Indies and bring back hanging and birching for young offenders. Fortunately he was convicted of embezzlement shortly before the 1970 general election and replaced by Peter Temple-Morris.


For all its imperfections I never thought of joining any party other than Labour. Ollie Olson, one of the peace corps volunteers I had met in Africa, came with his wife Diane to Britain to avoid being drafted to Vietnam, moving in with us while he got a work visa. Ollie and Diane’s main interest was photography so I joined them at a Cartier-Bresson exhibition followed by a May Day concert in the Royal Festival Hall – the first time I had been to a concert. We also discovered the Academy Cinema in Oxford Street with its repertoire of foreign-language films. Ollie was helped by John Fraser, who was an approachable and unpompous man, so finally in February 1969 I overcame my doubts and joined the party: a rare example of a rat boarding a sinking ship. I was happy to work with the Marxist splinter groups on issues where we agreed but I believed we could achieve more if we could radicalise the Labour party.


If I had had friends in the party I would have joined earlier, but like many other working-class kids I lacked the confidence to join when I knew no one. Fortunately Norwood Labour party had a dynamic full-time agent in the shape of Eddie Lopez, the son of a Spanish musician, who happened to share my taste in music. His much-put-upon wife Brenda didn’t seem to mind as the two of us listened to Cream on enormous headphones in their front room. Eddie had given up his career as an accountant to turn Norwood into a safe Labour seat. So far things hadn’t gone too well, with Labour wiped out in the 1967 GLC elections and the Tories winning fifty-seven of the sixty Lambeth Council seats in the 1968 borough elections. The tide of Tory gains was so unexpected that one Tory victor in Vauxhall demanded a recount as he’d only stood because there was no chance of him winning. With a general election due in two years, John Fraser’s chances looked slim.


Many members had left in disgust at Wilson’s 1966 wage freeze and failure to condemn US aggression in Vietnam. At my local branch meeting I was the first new member for a year and only the third person in the dozen present who wasn’t a pensioner. Bill Adams, the chair, joked, ‘Make sure he doesn’t get away.’ I was lucky to have an open-minded MP and an agent who didn’t fear new members meant trouble. Just two miles up the road the Vauxhall Labour party had fewer than fifty members (compared to 750 in Norwood), all of whom were either former councillors or their relatives. The agent, Elsie Boltz, was employed by Vauxhall MP George Strauss to head off challenges to his incumbency. New members were neither sought nor encouraged.


Within two months I was elected to the General Management Committee (GMC), the Executive Committee and the Local Government Committee and became chair and secretary of the local Young Socialists – there was only one other member. The others had left to join Paul Foot in the Trotskyist International Socialist Group led by Tony Cliff. Small revolutionary parties were more exciting, but I believed in radicalising the Labour party.


This was a new world, and I was consumed with an exhilarating round of committee meetings, canvassing and fund-raising and arguments about how John Fraser should vote on Secretary of State for Employment Barbara Castle’s 1969 anti-trade-union White Paper ‘In Place of Strife’. My first speech to the GMC denounced Wilson for trying to cure the economy by curtailing trade unions instead of devaluing the pound sooner and cutting military spending to balance the budget. I wrote my speech out line by line but I was shaking so much I couldn’t see the words and had to lean against the wall to stop trembling. I was applauded and party chair Vic Matthews said it was the best maiden speech he’d heard at a meeting in a long time. I was on cloud nine for days and was determined to spend the rest of my life as a Labour activist. I hoped to get elected to the borough council but guessed that would take years.
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One issue about which I was in a minority was the war in Biafra. Having seen the aftermath of the genocide in Kano, I believed that the Ibo people had the right to independence. But Wilson sold arms to Nigeria to protect our oil interests so the Ibo state was crushed and dismembered by the corrupt military regime.


My confidence grew as I helped draw up policies for the borough council election manifesto and select candidates for the GLC election, which was when I first met Tony Banks. Tony worked for the engineering unions’ left-wing general secretary Hugh Scanlon, but lost my vote by ignoring policy issues and announcing, ‘I have nothing to offer you but my youth.’ Instead I voted for a pensioner who was attacking what he called RIP: rent, interest and profits. Tony was selected and went on to win the GLC seat for Hammersmith.


While canvassing for the GLC election I first met the lawyer Victor Mishcon. He had defended Ruth Ellis and would later handle Princess Diana’s divorce and try to keep Jeffrey Archer out of prison. Victor was the son of a rabbi who had fled Poland before the First World War and was a talented member of the Labour group at County Hall as well as serving on Lambeth Council. He was not standing again, but took the time to get to know and encourage me. He left his chauffeur-driven Bentley out of sight while canvassing with me in the slums of Brixton.


Although the Labour party was in decline, the events of 1968 had radicalised many young people and I recruited pupils who had started the Schools Action Union (SAU). Most came from private and grammar schools and their head teachers threatened to expel them if they went on strike. Eddie Lopez let them meet in our local HQ and I lobbied Labour school governors to prevent them being expelled.


With under 200 members, mainly in London, they were all pupils with the exception of Max Hunt, a teacher with a Ho Chi Minh beard. As a Maoist, believing the world was on the verge of revolution, he opposed my attempts to recruit members into the Labour party. We didn’t know then that 1968 was a once-in-a-lifetime upheaval rather than the beginning of a new world, so Max insisted that we should prepare for armed struggle.


Tariq Ali of the IMG believed Brixton could be a ‘revolutionary base area’, and the American Black Panther party had formed a small chapter in Brixton. The local police had a grim reputation, with tales of prisoners being savagely beaten in the cells to extract confessions. At the Lambeth Community Relations Council, the police community liaison officer admitted there was nothing he could do because ‘it isn’t possible to have glass cells’.


I saw the local police at work on a Panther march protesting against police brutality. With a hundred people on the march (fewer than the police who were present) everything stayed peaceful until a drunk started shouting and lunged at one of the Panthers, who didn’t hit back. Police ignored the drunk and arrested the Panther. The case was heard by Judge King-Hamilton, a notorious reactionary, who handed down a prison sentence.


My best recruits from the SAU were Paul and Kevin Moore, who both became Lambeth councillors, with Paul serving as vice-chair of transport during my GLC administration and on the Transport for London (TfL) board when I became mayor. But the long march through the institutions was not as exciting as immediate revolution, with Max organising paramilitary training to prepare for armed struggle. He wanted us to assemble at 10 p.m. one night for a forced march to Brighton, warning we would have to climb over back-garden walls because during a revolution troops would control the streets. Max warned that if anyone broke a limb they would be left behind, as would happen in a real revolutionary war. On the appointed night most SAU members joined me at my local, the King’s Head, in West Norwood for our regular Saturday-night singalong.


The SAU was united only by a loathing for Jack Straw, then president of the National Union of Students. Alarmed that pupils might be attracted to revolutionary politics, the NUS set up a rival National Union of School Students but they needn’t have bothered as Max’s eccentric Maoism drove most SAU members away. The remainder split into pro-dope or anti-dope factions and were never heard of again.
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After the experience of Reagan and Thatcher and the collapse of the Soviet Union, it’s hard to understand why so many believed we were on the way to socialism in our lifetimes. But we grew up in the 1950s when Russia beat the US to launch the first satellite, put the first man in space and for a time had dramatic economic growth, with Soviet leader Nikita Khrushchev predicting they would overtake the US by 1980. Who were we to know any better? We also lived with our parents’ memories of the Great Depression, the creation of the welfare state and the nationalisation of basic industries. Africa and Asia had thrown off colonialism, America was losing in Vietnam and the anti-apartheid struggle was a rallying point for youth worldwide. As a reformist I believed the state could manage things better and that capitalism needed firm regulation to prevent its excesses. As in Russia in 1917 and China in 1949 people only turned to revolution when they had nothing to lose but their lives.


This was why so many were caught up in left-wing groups debating the way forward, studying Trotsky and Lenin or Mao Tse-tung. I believed naively that Mao’s cultural revolution was trying to prevent Chinese communism developing into a bureaucracy like Stalin’s in the Soviet Union. We now know that in reality Mao was leading a violent coup against his comrades in the Party to regain the predominance he had lost following his failed Great Leap Forward in which millions starved to death.


Left-wing groups argued, fought, fused and split. Each believed they knew the correct way forward and if others would follow everything would be possible. What had more impact on most young people in fact were bands such as Love and Cream. We argued about the meaning of Beatles compositions and Dylan’s lyrics and the songs of Jacques Brel as sung by Scott Walker (banned by the BBC as they dealt with prostitution and homosexuality). In cinema a new generation of directors challenged convention with Easy Rider, 2001 and If. Robert Altman’s M*A*S*H captured the lunacy of war, and I wanted to live my life in the anarchist style of the doctors portrayed by Donald Sutherland and Elliott Gould.


Almost every weekend we marched against the war or apartheid, but the really massive demos were organised later by the TUC against the anti-union laws being proposed by Ted Heath’s new Tory government following Labour’s defeat at the 1970 general election. They were run with military precision as hundreds of thousands marched and the trade union stewards put the left-wing factions firmly in their place at the back, just ahead of the lesbian and gay groups. It was a heady experience: with numbers like this how could we fail?
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In the midst of all of this excitement things deteriorated at work, where the management were proposing redundancies. Along with other workers in the unit I joined the Association of Scientific Workers (about to be absorbed into Clive Jenkins’s union ASSET, then to become ASTMS). After a rowdy meeting with management we organised a one-day protest strike. It did not stop the redundancies, but John Fraser got media coverage by raising it in Parliament. I was told I would not be promoted further and should look for another job.


I had already decided to leave as I had gone as far as I could. Working in the unit imposed a degree of isolation. Every day I had to change into medical whites, walk through fluorescent disinfectant and, except for meal breaks, spend the day alone with thousands of mice. Apart from it being lonely work, the disinfectant turned my feet bright green, which girlfriends found offputting.


My mentor at Chester Beatty had been Tom Connors, a charismatic research doctor whom I hero-worshipped, and it was he who encouraged me to go into politics. I had worked on and off for him over eight years and felt proud when he phoned me at home to say he was hung-over and asked me if I would conduct his experiments. After I left I followed his career as he made the biggest single cancer breakthrough of the last fifty years. Before Tom’s work, testicular cancer was almost inevitably fatal. Today 97 per cent of cases are cured because he saw the potential of a drug that others hadn’t noticed. For forty years he was the leading specialist in chemotherapy, making Britain the world leader in anti-cancer drug development. Connors founded Cancer Research UK and was the first non-American to serve on the top scientific advisory and oversight committees of the National Cancer Institute, US, which advised the American president. I last saw him when I was running for mayor. He had been diagnosed with prostate cancer and joked, ‘I’m hoping to live long enough to find a cure!’ Sadly, he didn’t.




*





Eddie Lopez tapped up a few members to raise money to employ me to sign up postal voters for the general election, which was expected in October 1970. When Wilson called it for June I took my annual holiday to work on the election. Eddie and I worked through the night assisted by the Moore brothers and other members of the SAU. Ted Heath’s Tories secured a surprise 31-seat majority, although John Fraser was just able to fend off Peter Temple-Morris at Norwood by a margin of 631 votes.


Having spent everything trying to win the election, the party now had no money to employ me. I wanted to work with children and the previous year, just up the road in Streatham, Philippa Fawcett Teacher Training College had changed its admissions policy to include men (one of whom had burned himself to death in support of the Russian invasion of Czechoslovakia). There was an acute shortage of teachers so virtually everyone who applied was accepted. I enrolled in Social Biology with the goal of teaching science to non-academic kids. At the first seminar the lecturer took ten minutes to gently build up to the proposition that there were different classes in society. There were gasps from many of the Home Counties students who had never lived in a big city before. I realised the curriculum was not going to be intellectually challenging.


Andrew Hosken’s biography Ken records: ‘Livingstone attended Philippa Fawcett so infrequently during this three-year course that several former students interviewed for this book were convinced, wrongly, that Livingstone had dropped out after a year without obtaining his teacher training certificate.’ My worst attendance record was on the drama course. The first lesson at 9 a.m. on Monday involved lying on the floor pretending to be a flame. I decided that drama wasn’t for me. Marks towards the teacher’s certificate were awarded half from the final exam and half from students’ best twelve pieces of coursework, so I did thirteen pieces of coursework which were graded A or B and decided to leave it at that while concentrating on getting elected to Lambeth Council.


Labour ran Lambeth from 1934 until the Tory landslide in 1968 but the leadership had grown unimaginative, exercising a tight grip on the party in order to keep left-wingers out. The Labour leader Alderman Archie Cotton and most of the old guard died within eighteen months of losing to the Tories. Eddie Lopez was determined that the next Labour council should be more radical, particularly as the Tories were running the borough better than the old Labour regime had done. The Tory leader was Bernard Perkins, talented and liberal-minded, who started a five-year plan to expand public services, increased house building and cracked down on bad landlords. Housing was at the top of the political agenda following the TV drama Cathy Come Home, which depicted a young family torn apart and its children taken into care because of the lack of housing. At the 1970 election the Tories’ housing spokesman, Peter Walker, spoke in Lambeth and promised to build more council houses than Labour. I ran a housing campaign demanding more homes to prevent us reverting to Labour’s poor past performance.


John Major was the best of the new Conservative intake and was promoted to chair the Housing Committee, but some backbenchers were openly racist so Perkins expelled them. Their factional leader was then arrested buying dope in a set-up by a drug dealer offended by his racist speeches.


As a member of the Local Government Committee I threw myself into drafting the manifesto. After Wilson’s 1970 defeat there was an influx of university-educated younger members and we were determined to do better than the Tory council. A local pensioner campaigned for the right of OAPs to travel free on buses between the rush hours and this became an issue when the Tory council gave free travel for only the poorest old people, so we promised free off-peak bus travel for all Lambeth’s pensioners.
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